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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB mE A

RESULTS

Due to a tough business operating environment, the total revenue of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
“Group”) inevitably decreased to HK$216.1 million (2022: HK$225.5
million) during the year ended 31 March 2023 (“Year”). Gross profit
was HK$133.2 million (2022: HK$142.6 million).

Revenue from the retail segment amounted to HK$195.0 million
(2022: HK$212.2 million), accounting for 90.2% (2022: 94.1%) of the
Group’s total revenue. Aggregate retail sales revenue of “Ulferts”
and “Ulferts Signature’” amounted to HK$110.0 million (2022:
HK$136.4 million), and remained the key revenue contributor,
accounting for 56.4% (2022: 64.3%) of total retail revenue.
Aggregate retail sales revenue of “Slumberland’ and “Ulfenbo”
increased to HK$48.2 million (2022: HK$31.6 million), accounting
for 24.7% (2022: 14.9%) of total retail revenue. The retail sales
revenue of “at ¢ home” was HK$36.8 million (2022: HK$44.2
million), accounting for 18.9% (2022: 20.8%) of total retail revenue.

With a decline in the Group’s total revenue and the recognition of a
significant amount of impairment allowance relating to the right-of-
use assets and property, plant and equipment after the impairment
assessment, the Group recorded a net loss of HK$21.0 million
(2022: net profit of HK$4.1 million) during the Year. Basic loss per
share was HK2.63 cents (2022: basic earnings of HK0.52 cent per
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SRR B

MARKET REVIEW

With a number of macroeconomic issues such as on-going interest
rate hikes, tightened monetary policies and geopolitical tensions,
the local property market generally remained weak in 2022, and the
value index of retail sales of furniture declined during 2022,
according to the Hong Kong monthly retail sales figures published
by the Census and Statistics Department of Hong Kong. Although
the border was fully reopened in the last quarter of the Year and
prompted property developers to accelerate the launch of new
properties, it would take time for the catalyst to drive the furniture
market; the furniture market remained gloomy over the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading retailer of high quality home furniture mainly
imported from Europe. The Company has been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since January
2018.

The Group has been established for over 45 years, and takes pride
in providing superior quality stylish furniture in Hong Kong. As at 31
March 2023, the Group operated 26 points-of-sale (“POS”) in Hong
Kong under the trade names of “Ulferts Signature”, “Ulferts” and
“at ¢ home”, which specialise in furniture products, as well as
“Ulfenbo’ and “Slumberland’, which specialise in mattresses and
bedding products.

“Ulferts” and “Ulferts Signature” are dedicated to elevating
customers’ home living standard with style and quality, and offer a
wide variety of contemporary style furniture products targeting
middle to high-end groups. “at ¢ home” offers quality compact
furniture and home accessories to suit small living spaces of
modern families.

Targeting the mass market, “Ulfenbo” offers mattresses, pillows,
sofabeds, sofas and other ancillary items, which are distributed
through “Ulfenbo” specialty stores, department store counters,
pop-up stores and roadshows, as well as wholesaling to over 200
dealers. Additionally, there are several online shopping platforms
which maximise market coverage.

The Group is the sole agent of “Slumberland’ and “Vono” in Hong
Kong and Macau. “Slumberland’ is a well-known British mattress
brand offering premium mattresses for households and hotels,
targeting high-end market while “Vono”, another British mattress
brand, targets the mass market. In addition to mattresses, both
brands also offer pillows and bedding products which are
distributed through wholesaling to over 100 dealers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB mE A

Retail Business

Effective Market Segmentation

With a clear understanding of market segmentation, the Group
defines and identifies target consumer profiles in order to
develop product and marketing strategies to reach out to their
specific preferences.

“Ulferts”, the Group’s core retail label, is dedicated to
providing high quality, stylish and luxury furniture. It offers a
wide variety of contemporary style furniture products, enabling
its customers to create their ideal homes. The Group operates
“Ulferts” showrooms across Hong Kong, targeting middle to
high-mid income groups. “Ulferts Signature’ offers high-end
branded furniture products and also luxury European tailor-
made furniture. It targets up-market customers seeking a
superior lifestyle. Another retail line, “at ¢ home”, offers quality,
stylish and compact furniture. It targets the mid-range segment
and is geared towards the needs of young couples and new
families.

With over 100 years’ history, the British brand “Slumberland’
targets up-market customers and is committed to providing
premium mattresses that enable customers to enjoy better and
healthier sleep, while “Vono”, another British mattress brand
owned by the same supplier targets the mass market. The
products of “Slumberland” and “Vono” are distributed through
the stores of “Ulferts”, “at ¢ home” and “Ulfenbo” as well as
department store counters of “Slumberland’. “Ulfenbo”
products focus on mass market consumers who demand
quality but affordable mattresses, pillows and other ancillary
items to enhance their sleep experience. “Ulfenbo” products
are distributed through “Ulfenbo” stores, which are typically
small-scale, and are designed with a casual and relaxing
environment, to highlight smart living style. “Ulfenbo” products
are also distributed at department store counters, pop-up
stores and roadshows for enhancing the market reach.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB MR

Diverse Product Portfolio

The Group offers a wide variety of furniture products — ranging
from leather and fabric sofas, cabinets, dining tables and
chairs, through wardrobes, coffee tables and sideboards, to
beds, which are imported from European and Asian countries.
The Group currently carries more than 50 furniture brands in
“Ulferts Signature” and “Ulferts” showrooms, as well as
“at ¢ home” stores, including international brands such as
himolla, Gamma, MIDJ, Bonaldo, egoitaliano and MALERBA,
most of which the Group has built long-standing relationship.
“at ¢ home” particularly offers various compact furniture
products with special features and functions to suit the local
small living spaces, as well as chic Scandinavian home
accessories.

The Group also specialises in mattress and bedding products,
covering high-end and mass markets. “Slumberland’ mainly
offers mattresses with its unique posture springing system
which enhances the comfort and support of the body. Besides,
the Group offers mattresses, pillows, sofas, sofabeds, beds, as
well as other ancillary items under its self-owned label
“Ulfenbo”. By providing different models of mattresses and
pillows in various sizes with varying supports and features, the
Group endeavours to meet diverse customer needs.

Comprehensive Retail Sales Channel

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 26 POS in Hong Kong,
with the number of outlets in each retail line as follows:

Furniture Products
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB Rk

“Ulferts” showrooms are strategically located in either upscale
residential areas or major shopping areas, targeting middle to
high-mid income groups. With its solid presence in these mature
locations, the Group enjoys substantial foot traffic and a high
brand reputation. The Group’s flagship store, “Ulferts
Signature’, is a 3-storey store with gross floor area of
approximately 21,700 square feet, in Hung Hom. It features more
luxurious lines of furniture and masterpieces with opulent
designs and sophisticated finishing and excellent craftsmanship.
Premium brands including Cornelio Cappellini, Malerba and
Crystal Stone are available at “Ulferts Signature”. “at ¢ home’
stores are generally located in shopping malls which carries a
furniture theme, and there has been growing awareness of the
brand among residents and shoppers. Meanwhile, “Ulfenbo’
stores, department store counters, pop-up stores and roadshows
are situated in residential areas, to capitalise on the market
potential.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB Rk

During the Year, a “Slumberland’ store-within-a-store was RAEE REBNRBRESN BEEF
opened inside the “Ulferts” showroom at Telford Plaza, and a RN ENRR— RIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB w2

Excellent Customers Shopping Experience

“Ulferts Signature” and “Ulferts” showrooms are spacious,
with a stylish and elegant environment, enabling the Group to
display a wide spectrum of products for customers to touch
and feel and to maximise customers’ shopping experience. The
ambience, setting and placement of furniture within the
distinctive display zones have all been tailor-designed by a
dedicated visual merchandising team to impart harmonious,
home-like comfort. The salespersons are well-trained and offer
customers advice catering for their personal needs. In
recognition of its service excellence, “Ulferts” received the
“Quality Service Leader Seasonal Award - Furniture & Home
Accessories Category” for the periods April to June 2022 and
January to March 2023, and 2022 Quality Service Retailer of
the Year — Furniture & Home Accessories Category Award,
while “at ¢ home” received the “Quality Service Leader
Seasonal Award — Furniture & Home Accessories Category” for
the period July to September 2022, in the Quality Service
Programme organised by the Hong Kong Retail Management
Association.

Diversified Marketing Strategies

The Group believes that brand recognition is crucial for driving
long-term growth and success. To enhance brand awareness,
the Group conducted a range of marketing and promotional
campaigns spanning social media engagements, print
advertisements, TV coverage, outdoor billboards and
advertising on regular basis as well as pop-up exhibitions at
suitable venues. It also launched promotional campaigns such
as seasonal sale, annual sale and stock clearance sale, as well
as joint promotions with banks and other companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SRR B

Wholesale Business

The Group operates a wholesale business spanning mattresses,
sofabeds and sofas under its self-owned label “Ulfenbo”, through
over 200 dealers in Hong Kong. Based on its long establishment
and quality products, the “Ulfenbo” brand has been recognised by
the “Hong Kong Top Brand Mark” for nine consecutive years since
2014, under the Hong Kong Top Brand Scheme organised by the
Chinese Manufacturers Association of Hong Kong and Hong Kong
Brand Development Council. In addition, the Group distributes
“Slumberland’ and “Vono’ mattresses through over 100 dealers in
Hong Kong and Macau.

Special Projects

Complementing its retail and wholesale business, the Group has a
special projects division, which undertakes furniture-related projects
primarily for corporate customers such as cinemas, hotels,
showflats, offices, staff quarters and tertiary institutions. The
division provides services ranging from planning and designing,
through procuring custom-made furniture to final installation for
corporate customers, as well as liaison services with furniture
manufacturers.

PROSPECTS

Due to the interest rate hike, the property market remains weak with
disappointing number of property transactions. The relaxation of
travel restrictions has diverted people’s attention from domestic
spending to overseas travel. The demand for furniture has declined
and competition among players in the industry has intensified. The
Group expects the situation to persist for some time before demand
to gradually pick up again. Riding on its comprehensive product
portfolio with well-defined market segmentation, the Group will
strive to strengthen its market position by enriching the product
offering and launching more vigorous promotions. The addition of
“Slumberland’ and “Vono’ to its portfolio has helped to enhance its
market presence in both the up-market segment and the mass
market. The Group will adhere to its prudent financial and capital
management policy, and continue exercising stringent control over
operating costs, in order to enhance operating efficiency and
improve profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB mE A

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

There was no change in the capital structure during the Year. Cash
and cash equivalents of the Group was HK$62.1 million (2022:
HK$76.8 million), which were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. As at 31 March 2023, bank borrowings of the Group was nil
(2022: nil), hence its gearing ratio was zero (2022: zero). The Group
has available banking facilities of approximately HK$89.5 million as
at 31 March 2023. The cash position and the available banking
facilities enable the Group to retain high flexibility and endurance to
cater for future development and market uncertainty.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$128.2 million (2022: HK$153.7
million) and HK$69.9 million (2022: HK$94.0 million), respectively.
Current ratio and quick ratio of the Group were 1.8 (2022: 1.6) and
1.2 (2022: 1.0), respectively.

In view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2023, the
Board considered that the Group had sufficient working capital for
its operations and future development plans against market
challenges.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s number of employees was 133
(2022: 144). Total staff costs including remuneration of the directors
of the Company (“Board” or “Directors”) and the other staff costs for
the Year were HK$45.9 million (2022: HK$44.9 million). Employees’
remuneration was determined in accordance with individual’s
responsibility, competence and skills, experience and performance
as well as market pay level. Staff benefits include medical and life
insurance, retirement benefits and other competitive fringe benefits.

To provide incentive or rewards to staff, the Company adopted a
share option scheme, particulars of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Options” of the Directors' report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK0.50 cent per share).
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

EERESHRITHRABZERE

Executive Director (Chairman)

WONG CHI FAI, aged 67, an Executive Director of the Company
and Chairman of the Board. He has been involved in the
management of the Group since 1992 and is responsible for
overseeing the financial management and advising on the business
strategic planning and development of our Group. Mr. Wong is the
Chairman of the Executive Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company as well as a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 30 years of
finance and management experience in different businesses
ranging from wholesaling and retailing of furniture, property
investment and development, hotel and hospitality, retailing of
watch and jewellery, financial and securities services, cinema
development and operation to entertainment production and
investment, artiste management as well as media and publication.
Mr. Wong is currently a director of Emperor International Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 163) (“Emperor International”), Emperor
Entertainment Hotel Limited (Stock Code: 296) (“Emperor E Hotel”),
Emperor Watch & Jewellery Limited (Stock Code: 887) (“Emperor
W&J"), Emperor Capital Group Limited (Stock Code: 717) (*Emperor
Capital Group”) and Emperor Culture Group Limited (Stock Code:
491) (“Emperor Culture”), all being listed members of Emperor
Group. He is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Executive Director and Managing Director

CHAN CHUEN YIN, aged 52, an Executive Director and Managing
Director of the Company. He joined the Group in August 2021 as
Managing Director of the operating company and is responsible for
the overall management and business strategies of the Group. He is
the member of the Executive Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company as well as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chan has over 25 years of
experience in operations, sales and marketing and business
development. Prior to joining the Group, he had held management
positions in various reputable corporations in Hong Kong covering
consumer and telecommunications industries.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

EERESHRITHRABZERE

Executive Director, General Manager and Company
Secretary

MOK FUNG LIN, IVY, aged 58, an Executive Director of the
Company and the General Manager of the Group. She joined the
Group in July 2011 and is responsible for the business operational
management and policy implementation in the Group. Ms. Mok is
the Company Secretary of the Company and a member of the
Executive Committee as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Before joining our Group, she was a director of
Emperor International and Emperor E Hotel from February 2000 to
July 2011 and has accumulated over 20 years’ experience in
corporate management and possesses experience in businesses
including property investment and development, retailing,
wholesaling, marketing and trading. Ms. Mok was admitted as a
solicitor in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom, and holds a
Bachelor of Laws Degree awarded by The University of Hong Kong.
She also holds a Degree of Master of Business Administration
awarded by The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.

Executive Director

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA (Former name: Fan Man Seung),
aged 60, an Executive Director of the Company. She has been
involved in the management of the Group since July 1992 and is
responsible for overseeing the overall corporate management and
advising on the business strategy of the Group. Ms. Fan is the
Chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee and a
member of the Executive Committee of the Company as well as a
director of a subsidiary of the Company. She has over 34 years of
corporate management experience in diversified businesses
ranging from wholesaling and retailing of furniture, property
investment and development, hotel and hospitality, retailing of
watch and jewellery, financial and securities services, cinema
development and operation to entertainment production and
investment, artiste management as well as media and publication.
Ms. Fan is currently a director of Emperor International, Emperor E
Hotel, Emperor W&J, Emperor Capital Group and Emperor Culture.
She is a lawyer by profession in Hong Kong and a qualified
accountant, and holds a Master’'s Degree in Business
Administration.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

EERESHRITHRABZERE

Independent Non-executive Directors

CHAN YEE MAN, aged 49, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. She is the
Chairperson of the Audit Committee as well as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Ms. Chan has been practising as a Certified Public
Accountant in Hong Kong and has over 30 years of experience in
the accounting profession. She holds a Bachelor of Accounting
Degree awarded by The University of Hong Kong and a Master of
Corporate Finance Degree awarded by The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Ms. Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

CHIU KIN FAI, aged 49, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a member of the
Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chiu is a partner of a solicitors firm, T.H. Koo &
Associates. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1998
and holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree awarded by The University of
Hong Kong.

NG HOI YUE, aged 59, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as a member of
the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. Mr. Ng is currently an executive director and deputy chief
executive officer of Asian Citrus Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 73).
He was previously an independent non-executive director of
Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1076)
until 11 March 2022. Mr. Ng has been practising as a Certified
Public Accountant in Hong Kong since 1989. He is a fellow member
of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in England.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EREHRE

The Directors present this annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 66.

No interim dividend was paid to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) during the Year (2022: Nil).

The Directors did not recommend any payment of a final dividend
for the Year (2022: HK0.50 cent per share).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the Year and an analysis of the
likely future development of the Group’s business are set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 4 to 12 of this
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group are set out in the Corporate Governance Report from pages
27 to 58 and note 29 to the financial statements respectively.

There is no important event affecting the Group that had occurred
since the end of the Year up to the date of this report.

In addition, discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, key relationships with the Company’s key
stakeholders as well as compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have significant impact on the Company are set
out in the 2022/2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report
of the Company.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEETWE

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the Year are set
out in note 22 to the financial statements.

RETAINED PROFITS / ACCUMULATED LOSSES

Details of movements in the retained profits / accumulated losses of
the Group during the Year are set out on page 69 of this annual
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

No Group’s reserves are available for distribution to the Shareholders
as at 31 March 2023, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Ordinance (2022: HK$4,397,000).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 140 of this annual
report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Chuen Yin (Managing Director)
(appointed on 1 September 2022)

Ms. Mok Fung Lin, Ivy

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Chan Yee Man
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ESTHE

Biographical details of the Directors and senior executives as at the
date of this report are set out from pages 13 to 15 of this report.
Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements.

In accordance with Article 79 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Chan Chuen Yin, who was appointed as Director
during the Year, shall hold office from his appointment date until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting. He shall offer himself for re-election at the 2023 AGM.

In accordance with Articles 80(1) and 80(3) of the Company's
Articles of Association, Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa and Mr. Chiu
Kin Fai shall retire by rotation at the 2023 AGM. Both of them, being
eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the 2023
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Group’s business were entered into or existed during the
Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company has in
force the permitted indemnity provisions which are provided for in the
Company'’s Articles of Association and in the directors and officers
liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential
liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that may be
brought against the Directors and the directors of the Group
respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ")) as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors adopted by the Company (“Ulferts Securities Code”)
were as follows:

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
Annual Report 2022/2023 &

AREAMEZERERTRABZEREFETD
HBNAFREIBEIEH EREZMEFHBETD
BN HmKRMIEES

RBANDABERMA79RRE  RAE
FEEZERESNREELENTIHEESR
FHREEEZERARA TERRBAFKS
R ERENTEERRZARG LEREE-
REER 2023 FRRBF NG LEREM -

BRRBRAANBDEBERMABO(NEO)HEZR
B SBBUIE R T RIBEE A K 2023 A
FRELHERE - HFHTRERLEETE
BB(E-

BERE 2023 FRRBF ARG LEREEZ
EFHAKETEAR—FARNEERE EE
BRERRIN) Z REMRIFEH

EESH

RAEFER BREBEAN WEITIHFH
BRAEEERENEMNEREIEBNEERK
THEEZAERN -

EHERTRYREIRY

RAFERBEERARERRIL REEREE
= FRIa8 0 B E R AE R SR EAT AL VBT
BEERER AARBBERER ZFHEX
DRABRAABDZERMAUUAEFEEREZ
EFLRREEAEBEERRA-

EERRETHABZEHER

MR2023F3H31H EELARTAZESIT
BAERAATREEBEIE (EERESFR
e ("B RBEED ) BEXVED) 2 K&
D~ EERDKREEZEPEERABIREES
FEAE&GIZE 35218 B F iR T2 B e AT 8%
ZERRAE HRBEAQNT RN (ESE
TESRSNWRESTAD (T BEESTE L) A
BITANEARRAB R ERmEABWT -




DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ESTHRE

(A) Long Position interests in the Company

None of the Directors or chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company.

(B) Long Position interests in associated corporation of the
Company

Ordinary shares

Name of associated
corporation

HRBCEEETE

Name of Director

ERNE

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Emperor International
Vanessa HEFR
SBEE It

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors nor chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) on 8 January 2018. Particulars of the Share Option
Scheme are set out in note 23 to the financial statements. No option
was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as set out in note 23 to the
financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as stated above, at the end of
the Year and at no time during the Year was the Company, any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executives of the
Company or their spouses or children under 18 years of age to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Capacity/Nature of
interests

Sfn EmtE

Beneficial Owner
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors nor their respective close
associates was interested in any business which was considered to
compete or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERSTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SECURITIES

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2023, the persons or corporations (other
than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had, or
were deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO (“D
Register”) were as follows:

Long Positions in the shares of the Company (“Shares”)

Capacity/Nature of

interests

Bin #EaHE

Interest in a controlled
corporation

MR zEHEE i

Name

B

Albert Yeung Investments Holdings Limited
(“AY Investments Holdings”)
BRXEREZERBRAR ("HBXRREZRK )

First Trust Management AG
(“First Trust”) trust

MARBRERZZEA

Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert

(“Dr. Albert Yeung”) trust

BREEL (THEL ) FABBEFTEZRIZA
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon Interest of spouse
(“Ms. Semon Luk”) FoiB Lt
P&kt (TRt )
Note:  These Shares were held by Ulferts International Group Holdings

Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of AY Investments Holdings.
AY Investments Holdings was in turn held by First Trust in trust
for a private discretionary trust which was set up by Dr. Albert
Yeung. By virtue of being the spouse of Dr. Albert Yeung, Ms.
Semon Luk also had deemed interests in the same Shares.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EREHRE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Directors or
chief executives of the Company were not aware of any person or
corporation (other than the Directors and chief executives of the
Company) who had, or were deemed or taken to have, any interests
or short positions in any Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in
the DI Register.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the Year, the Group had the following transactions with
connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company
and certain Director(s) had interests, directly or indirectly, in such
transactions:

A. Master Leasing Agreement (“2020 MLA”)

Date: 3 December 2020
Parties: (1) The Company
(2) Emperor International
Emperor International and its subsidiaries are
collectively referred to as “Emperor International
Group”.
Term: From 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024
Nature: The 2020 MLA sets out the framework of the

terms governing all existing and future
tenancy / licensing transaction(s) (“Tenancy
Transaction(s)”) regarding leasing of certain
properties (including offices or retail shops)
from Emperor International Group for each
of the year ended / ending 31 March 2022,
2023 and 2024.
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Connected
Relationship:

Aggregate
amounts:

Announcement:
Circular:
Independent

Shareholders’
approval:

Pursuant to the 2020 MLA, relevant member(s)
of the Group and any member(s) of Emperor
International Group may from time to time enter
into any definitive leasing agreements in
relation to any Tenancy Transaction (“Definitive
Leasing Agreement”). The terms of each
Definitive Leasing Agreement shall be on
normal commercial terms or on terms which
are no less favorable to the Group than terms
offered by independent third parties. The terms
and rental shall be subject to arm’s length
negotiation and determined based on the
condition of the properties and with reference
to the then prevailing market rents on
properties comparable in location, area and
permitted use.

As the Company and Emperor International
were both indirectly controlled by the respective
private discretionary trusts set up by Dr. Albert
Yeung who is the deemed substantial
Shareholder, Emperor International was deemed
as connected person of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The aggregate amounts paid / payable in
respect of the Tenancy Transactions with
Emperor International Group (which did not
exceed the approved right-of-use annual cap
of HK$22,000,000 and rental expense annual
cap of HK$6,000,000 respectively for the
Year) were as follows:

Right-of-use . 2,755,000

Rental expense : 0
8 June 2021
6 July 2021

10 August 2021
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Master Agreement on Provision of Products and Services
(“Master Agreement”)

Scope of Products and
Services provided
REE R R RS HES

Sales / provision of products and services
by the Group to AY Holdings (as agent
acting on behalf of relevant members
of Emperor Group):

AEERBZRERZER (FRHAKRKE
EREEREATTENRE)HE RH
= o MRS

Name of counterparty
ESpE P

Albert Yeung Holdings
Limited
(“AY Holdings")
BXREXZRERAR
(TBXMEXRER )

(i)  Selling products and providing
furniture procurement consultancy
services

HEEMIRA KM R EADRS

(ii)  Selling furniture coupons

HERMES

Providing other types of ancillary
services and any transaction of
revenue nature
RUEAME R E R METBRAMY
ELEROEN7

(iif)

Annual cap for the Year: HK$9,800,000

On 3 March 2023, the Company entered into a new master
agreement for renewing the Master Agreement on similar terms
and conditions. The new master agreement is for a term of 3
years from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026.

Connected Relationship:

Emperor Group includes all companies and their respective
associates directly or indirectly controlled by various private
discretionary trusts set up by Dr. Albert Yeung from time to time
(including but not limited to Emperor International, Emperor E
Hotel, Emperor Capital Group, Emperor W&J, Emperor Culture
and their respective subsidiaries and associates), other than
the Group. Dr. Albert Yeung, was a deemed substantial
shareholder of the Company and therefore the companies
under Emperor Group were deemed connected persons of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

B. RMEMKRB @GR RIGE )

Amount
received
for the Year
(HK$’ 000)
AEEEW
ZEHE

(F#7x)
5,070

(i) Date of agreement
[ZEA=k

Term (D/M/Y)

BEEH (BB §F)
Date of Announcement
NEBH

(i) 15 May 2020
202058 15H
(ii) 1 April 2020
- 31 March 2023
202048 1HE
20233 H31H
(i) 15 May 2020
202058 15H

(i)
D)

AEEZEE LR 9,800,000#7T

202338 3H » AARRIMH B
UG AR BB s - FTidH=
BEI3AE ) B32023F 48 1HE 2026434
31H Lk

BAERAR -

REEFOREGBLIARANZRLA
BB ERERNERENNMEAR LK
SFEENEBRAR (BREERRNEZEH
B REREAE REFHEE K2
BHRRE  REXMCEXREFS BRI
BRRKREBAR)  ERNEBRI - BE
THWRBARA ZEERER AL R
EFHRA14ATE REKBET AW
BRANRBZBEANL
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Compliance with Disclosure Requirements

Save as the “sales of goods” in the amount of HK$5,070,000 out of
HK$5,073,000, interest expense on lease liabilities and lease
payments as shown in note 25(a) to the financial statements, none
of the other related party transactions as set out in note 25
constituted connected transactions or non-exempt continuing
connected transactions (“Disclosed CCTs”) that are required to be
disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company
had complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Disclosed CCTs.

Independent Auditor’s Letter on Disclosed CCTs

The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s Disclosed CCTs in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’'s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” (“Auditor’s Letter”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

The independent auditor had issued unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the Disclosed CCTs of the
Group from pages 21 to 23 of this annual report in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Auditor’s Letter had
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Confirmation of Independent Non-Executive Directors on Disclosed
CCTs

Pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) had reviewed the
Disclosed CCTs and the Auditor’'s Letter and had confirmed that
these transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better (as the case may be);
and

(iii) according to the agreements governing them on terms that are

fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as
a whole.
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Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction, arrangement or
contract which was significant in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his / her
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided by the Board as
recommended by the Remuneration Committee having regard to a
written remuneration policy (which ensures a clear link of business
strategy and a close alignment with the Shareholders’ interest and
current market best practice). Remuneration should be paid with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives, the
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Executive and Non-executive Directors,
internal equity of employment conditions across the Group and
applicability of performance-based remuneration. The Directors’
fees are paid in line with market practice. No individual should
determine his or her own remuneration.

Employee’s remuneration was determined in accordance with
individual’s responsibility, competence and skills, experience and
performance as well as market pay level. Remuneration package
includes, as the case may be, basic salary, Directors’ fees, housing
allowances, contribution to pension schemes, discretionary bonus
relating to financial performance of the Group and individual
performance, ad hoc rewards, share options and other competitive
fringe benefits such as medical and life insurances. Details of the
emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of
the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements
respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% (2022:30%) of the Group’s
total revenue for the Year.

During the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers and the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 39.1% (2022:35.6%) and 14.9% (2022:13.0%)
respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.

BREXFIIREEN RAFETERAAFE
FAEETEFERNANEEAZERART
MEARXRAANBARMILMESHH
BEEENETHEREAES (EREENH
B BHASEXBMEBERZRS - R
HER

FBMES R

EFCMESAREFERBFMEESGRR
—EFT IR (IR R X R ER B B M
B2 WEINERRER RBITHERE
EHRIAERHEMEBEERMEE - MeH2
EEFELXEARLKEN I TLULERATZ
THFE  RITRFERTEFNRERA LB
B ARBABR-—ENEFEREREREHN
MM BRAMN - EFRSRLUIFAHEER
MY o WEREHNATABEERS 2B -

BEFMDLRERBEASE  BAOREKM - KR
ERBLUATZFHFHKTEE - FFBEBERE
(BBERME) BEXFE EFRE FER
BE RARESFT BN BERAKEMBERELE
ARBEEHB BB HREM  BREK
HibAERFH2BINEN (WERRASR
) EFRAEERUSKHHALZFHHE
BABIEN M HBREMEEE K -

FREFRRMER

REE AEEBRAREFAERHEETRIN
RERBEBBRANEAREBARFE 2 WARED
7 30% (20224 : 30% ) °

AKEE AEEBARHEREASERAKMEE
FIRTAE 2R MR BB R O AR B RN FE 2 B HR
B BIAI39.1% (20224  35.6% ) K 14.9%
(20224 1 13.0% ) °
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None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
number of issued Shares of the Company) had any beneficial
interest in the above major customers and suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this annual report, there was sufficient
public float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Messrs. Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for
re-appointment at the 2023 AGM. A resolution for its reappointment
as independent auditor of the Company will be proposed thereat.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chi Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong
29 June 2023
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance for the Company so as to ensure “Accountability,
Responsibility and Transparency” towards Shareholders,
stakeholders, investors as well as employees of Company.

The Directors have adopted various policies to ensure compliance
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules so as to
having effective application of the principles of good corporate
governance. During the Year, the Company had fully complied with
all the code provisions of the CG Code.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company is committed to cultivating a corporate culture,
focusing on four pillars, namely customer centricity, excellence in
products and services, people first and positivity, which is
underpinned by its purpose and values that enable employees at all
levels of the Group to thrive and meet their full potentials by acting
in a lawful, ethical and responsible manner that allows the Company
to deliver sustainable long-term performance and operate in a way
that benefits society and the environment.

The Company’s purpose and values serve as a guide for
employees’ conduct and behaviours, ensuring that they are
integrated throughout the Company’s operational practices,
workplace policies and practices and stakeholder relationships:

EFEUNRAFRARFTRRKTIZELEES
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163 L B SR
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Purpose

RE

To engage and delight our
stakeholders for success

BT MBS E  EBKID
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The management is responsible for setting the tone and shaping the
corporate culture of the Company, as well as defining the purpose,
values and strategic direction of the Group, which are under review
by the Board. Taking into account the corporate culture is reflected
in various contexts, such as workforce engagement, employee
retention and training, legal and regulatory compliance, staff safety,
wellbeing and support, the culture, purpose, value and strategy of
the Group are aligned with one another.

THE BOARD

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible for the
leadership, control and promotion of success of the Group in the
interests of the Shareholders by directing and supervising its affairs
and by formulating strategic directions and monitoring the financial
and management performance of the Group.

Board Composition and Diversity

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, four are Executive
Directors and three are INEDs. Names and other biographical
details of the members of the Board are set out on pages 13 to 15
of this report under the “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Executives” section. All of them possess the skills, experience and
expertise either in the same industry or relevant to the management
of the business of the Group.

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
the following mechanisms were established:

e sufficient number of INEDs in a total of three, representing more
than one-third of the Board;

o no INED has served the Board for more than 9 years;

e separation of the role of the Chairman and the chief executives
ensures that there is a balance of power and authority; and

e annual meeting between the Chairman and all INEDs without
presence of other Directors provides an effective platform for
the Chairman to listen to independent views on various issues
concerning the Group.

During the Year, the Board reviewed implementation of these
mechanisms and determined that they remain effective.
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The Company also adopted the Board Diversity Policy setting out
the approach to achieve a diverse Board with a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives to the business nature of
the Company. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a wide range of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant
and applicable from time to time. The merits and contribution that
will bring to the Board for any Director proposed for re-election or
any candidate nominated to be Director will also be assessed,
taking into account the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix
of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

The current Board composition reflects a diverse mix of educational
background, professional knowledge, industry experience and
length of service. The diversity mix of the Board as at 31 March
2023 is summarized as follows:

(i) Board Composition, Gender Distribution, Age Distribution and
Length of Service

Number of Directors
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2023 3H31H EFEMNZTIAEASHAL
LA

(i) EESHAL M5 FhesHE
HR 5 F R
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(i) EFHEERIEE

(ii) Directors’ Skills and Experience

Areas of Experience

BRI

Related Industry Knowledge / Experience

=R e Sk et

Business Management

EEEE

Legal / Regulatory
e BE

Financial & Accounting

MR e

Strategic Planning & Risk Management
B R E R EREE

The Board’s gender diversity level is relatively high compared
to other companies listed on the Stock Exchange, with three
female directors out of seven (43%). During the Year, the
Nomination Committee recommended and the Board approved
a target of having no less than 25% female directors on the
Board. The Nomination Committee was of the view that the
current gender diversity of the Board was appropriate,
balanced and exceeding the target set. Therefore, no timeline
or plan was proposed for further enhancing the gender
diversity target of the Board for the time being. The Nomination
Committee will continue reviewing the composition of the Board
to maintain diversity.

As at 31 March 2023, our total workforce comprised of 59%
female and 41% male, whereas senior management comprised
of 36% female and 64% male. The current gender diversity of
workforce was appropriate taking into account the business
models and operational needs.

The term of appointment of the INEDs are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election provisions under the Articles of
Association of the Company and the Listing Rules. The INEDs
had provided their confirmation of independence to the
Company. Based on the annual review conducted by the
Nomination Committee, the Board considered each of them to
be independent with reference to the factors as set out in Rule
3.18 of the Listing Rules.
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Board Process EETER

Besides regular Board meetings are held during the Year, additional BRRAFEBITERESTS I LWERKA
Board meetings, or meetings of a Board committee established by FZEINEETLRE  IHEEFTRUMNES
the Board to consider specific matters, were convened, when @©ZE2@H DUIBZIFTEEE-

necessary.

The attendance of Directors at the meetings during the Year is set FHEENAFEHESZ 2B REHIAOT ¢
out below:

No. of meetings attended/held
ilA=F VR ZOEE

Corporate
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Governance Executive General

Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
BBty £ BHREE iMzEE R%REE (GXELREE HrREE REAE
Executive Directors
HEE
Mr. Wong Chi Fai 6/6 (C) - 22 - - 8/8 (C) 11
Mr. Chan Chuen Yin Mee ) 55 - - n - 414 -

(appointed on 1 September 2022)

(R20224 9K 1 HEZEH)
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, vy 6/6 - - - - 8/8 n
EEELT
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa "2 6/6 - - 2 111(C) 88 1N

Independent Non-Executive Directors

BUFHGEE
Ms. Chan Yee Man 6/6 33(C) 22 22 - - /1
REZRL
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai 6/6 33 - 212 (C) 17 - 1
RiELLE
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue 6/6 33 22(C) - 1 - 11
ETRE
Total number of meetings held: 6 3 2 2 1 8 1
L OEETA LR
C: Chairperson / Chairman of the Board / Committee C: BEFe REeIE
Notes: Mt -
1.  Appointed as member of Executive Committee and Nomination 1, 2022& 98 1 HEZEARITEESNIE
Committee on 1 September 2022. Z2EEERE -
2. Ceased to be member of Nomination Committee on 1 September 2 $2022F 98 1 BABEARLEESKE -
2022.
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During the Year, the Chairman held a meeting with INEDs without
the presence of Executive Directors in compliance with code
provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.

The Company has received confirmation from each director that he /
she has given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company during the Year. Directors have also disclosed to the
Company the changes, if any, in the number and nature of offices
they hold in public companies or organizations and other significant
commitment, including the identity of the public companies or
organizations and an indication of the time involved.

Mr. Wong Chi Fai acts as the Chairman of the Board who provides
leadership to the Board. The day-to-day management of the Group
is delegated by the Board to the Managing Director, Mr. Chan
Chuen Yin and General Manager of the Group, Ms. Mok Fung Lin,
Ivy who are responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, business
growth and development. The segregation of duties make the Board
and the operation of the Group function effectively.

Mr. Wong Chi Fai sets the agenda for the Board and ensures that
members of the Board receive accurate, timely and clear
information, and that matters to be taken into consideration are
given their due weight, so that sound decisions can be made. With
the assistance of the Company Secretary, the Chairman ensures
that the Board properly exercises its powers, holds its meetings and
implements procedures in compliance with all rules and
requirements, and full and proper records are maintained.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than a
written resolution. That Director will abstain from voting on the
relevant Board resolution and he / she shall not be counted in the
quorum present at the Board meeting.

Procedures are also put in place for each Director to have access
to supporting papers and relevant information for each scheduled
meeting. All Directors also have access to the services of the
Company Secretary and her team, and may take independent
professional advice upon request, at the Company’s expense.
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Induction and Training for Directors

The Company provides Directors with regular updates on changes
to and developments of the Group’s business, and on the latest
developments in the laws, rules and regulations relating to
Directors’ duties and responsibilities to help them make informed
decisions and discharge their duties and responsibilities as
Directors. Such materials will also be provided to newly appointed
Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors.

During the Year, each Director had participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars / workshops /
reading materials on the following topics to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills and provided a record of training to the
Company:

Name of Directors
EE SN j@%éﬁ
PREELE

Mr. Wong Chi Fai

Mr. Chan Chuen Yin
(appointed on 1 September 2022)

Ms. Mok Fung Lin, Ivy REELL
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa SEEIRE R L
Ms. Chan Yee Man BREELL
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai REBLEL
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue mETxE

Board Committees

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate effective
management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated
by the Board to the Executive Committee, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee.

Clear written terms of reference of all the Board Committees are
given to the respective members of these Committees.
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Executive Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Executive Committee consists of all the Executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Chan
Chuen Yin (appointed on 1 September 2022), Ms. Mok Fung Lin,
lvy and Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa. It has all powers and
authorities of the Board except the following major matters as set
out in a “Formal Schedule on matters reserved for and
delegated by the Board”:

e determining the Group’s objectives and strategies;

e approving annual and interim results and financial
reporting;

e declaring or recommending payment of dividends or other
distributions;

e approving major changes that require notification by
announcement under the Listing Rules;

e approving publication of announcements for notifiable
transactions (except for discloseable transactions in relation
to lease transactions recognizing the right-of-use asset
according to HKFRS 16 “Leases”) under the Listing Rules;

e approving non-exempt connected transactions / non-exempt
continuing connected transactions (other than those
transactions took place from time to time under the master
agreement(s) previously approved by the Board /
Shareholders (as the case may be)) under the Listing
Rules; and

e approving major capital restructuring and issue of new
securities of the Company.

Audit Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Ms. Chan
Yee Man (Chairperson of the Committee), Mr. Chiu Kin Fai and
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are set
out in its terms of reference which include duties specified in
the CG Code and are posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during
the Year is set out as follows:

Vi

vii.

Viii.

reviewed with the management / finance personnel and / or
the external auditor the effectiveness of audit process and
the accounting policies and principles adopted by the
Group. When reviewing the accuracy and fairness of the
annual consolidated financial statements for the financial
year ended 31 March 2022 (“Previous Year”) and the
interim consolidated financial statements for the six
months ended 30 September 2022 before submission to
the Board for consideration, the Audit Committee has
focused not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices, but also on the
compliance with applicable accounting standards, the
Listing Rules and relevant legal requirements;

reviewed with the senior management and finance
personnel the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group during the Previous
Year;

performed annual review of the non-exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Group for the Previous Year;

recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
independent auditor at the 2022 annual general meeting
("2022 AGM”);

reviewed the audit fees and the fees for non-audit services
payable to the external auditor;

approved the audit plan for the Year, reviewed the
independence of external auditor and approved its
engagement;

reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions as well as those relating to the Company’s ESG
performance and reporting; and

reviewed and recommended to the Board on the adoption
of new anti-corruption policy and procedures and the
revised whistle-blowing policy and reporting procedures
for the Company.
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Remuneration Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Ng Hoi Yue (Chairman of the Committee), Ms. Chan
Yee Man, both being INEDs, and Mr. Wong Chi Fai, being an
Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
are set out in its terms of reference which include duties
specified in the CG Code and are posted on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the Directors’ fees and made recommendation to the
Board;

ii. reviewed the current remuneration structure / package of
the Executive Directors and senior management and
recommended the Board to approve their specific
packages;

iii. reviewed the remuneration package of newly appointed
Director, Mr. Chan Chuen Yin; and

iv. reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee and made recommendation to the Board for
approval.

Before recommendation to the Board, the Remuneration
Committee has reviewed and assessed the remuneration
package of the Directors with reference to the Group’s
operating results, duties and level of responsibility of the
Directors and the prevailing market conditions. Details of the
remuneration of each of the Directors for the Year are set out in
note 8 to the financial statements.

Nomination Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai (Chairman of the Committee) and Ms. Chan
Yee Man, both being INEDs, Ms. Vanessa Fan (ceased as
member of the Committee on 1 September 2022) and Mr. Chan
Chuen Yin (appointed on 1 September 2022), being Executive
Directors.
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The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are
set out in its terms of reference which include duties specified
in the CG Code and are posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for formulating policy
and making recommendations to the Board on nomination,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors, and Board
succession pursuant to the Nomination Policy adopted by the
Company.

The Nomination Policy of the Group aims at assisting the
Nomination Committee in identifying and nominating suitable
candidates for directorship based on the Board Diversity Policy
and sets out the nomination criteria and the nomination
procedures for (i) nominating new Director to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board; (ii) making recommendation to
Shareholders regarding any Director proposed for election or
re-election at general meeting; and (iii) nomination by
Shareholders on election of new Director.

The Nomination Committee may identify potential candidates
from any source as it may consider appropriate and evaluate
them by considering various factors, including their
professional expertise, industry and business experience, time
commitments, potential contributions to board diversity,
material conflict of interest with the Group (if any) and
independence (for INEDs). The Committee will then make
recommendation for suitable candidates to the Board for
consideration of appointment. In case of reappointment of
existing Directors who will retire at an annual general meeting
(“AGM”), the Committee will review the retirement by rotation of
Directors and make recommendations to the Board
accordingly.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board;

ii. reviewed the revised Board Diversity Policy, Nomination
Policy and terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
and made recommendations to the Board for approval;

iii. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;

iv. reviewed the confirmation from the Directors on time
commitment in performing their duties as Directors;
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v. made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the 2022 AGM:;

vi. made recommendation to the Board on the appointment of
Mr. Chan Chuen Yin as new Director and Managing
Director of the Company; and

vii. made recommendation to the Board on the gender
diversity target at Board level.

Corporate Governance Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Corporate Governance Committee (“CG Committee”)
consists of five members, namely Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
(Chairperson of the Committee), being an Executive Director,
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, both being INEDs, a
representative from company secretarial function and a
representative from finance and accounts function.

The specific written terms of reference of the CG Committee is
available on the website of the Company. The primary duties of
the CG Committee are (a) developing and reviewing the
policies and practices on corporate governance of the
Company (“CG Policy”) and making recommendations to the
Board; (b) reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices
of the Company on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (c) developing, reviewing and monitoring the
codes of conduct applicable to Directors and relevant
employees of the Group regarding dealings in the Company’s
securities; (d) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; and (e) reviewing the Company’'s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this report.

A summary of the work performed by the CG Committee during
the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the CG Policy and made recommendation to the
Board;

ii. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

iii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the said codes of conduct applicable to Directors
and relevant employees of the Group; and

v. reviewed the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in Corporate Governance Report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the Company Secretary, being an employee of the
Company, had duly complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by
taking no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Ulferts Securities Code as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors on terms
no less exacting than the required standards as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules regarding Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers. Having made specific
enquiry to Directors, all of them confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard of dealings as set out in Ulferts
Securities Code throughout the Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare the
annual consolidated financial statements of the Group and other
financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules. The
management has provided all members of the Board with monthly
updates on internal consolidated financial statements which give a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects as at the reporting date.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year, the
Board had adopted appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgment and estimates that were prudent
and reasonable and ensured the consolidated financial statements
are prepared on a “going concern” basis (with supporting
assumptions or qualifications as necessary) and showed a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group for the Year. The
management had provided sufficient explanation and information to
the Board on the consolidated financial statements to enable it to
make an informed assessment of the financial and other information
put before it for approval. The independent auditor of the Company
had made a statement about their reporting responsibilities in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

A.

Goals and objectives

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group establishes
and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems (“Control Systems”). Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable,
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

Internal control is fundamental to the successful operation and
day-to-day running of a business and it assists a company in
achieving its business objectives. Internal control policies and
procedures within the Group are updated regularly with the
primary objective of providing general guidance and
recommendations on a basic framework of Control Systems.

The key objectives of the Control Systems include:
e safeguarding assets

e ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of financial
records and reports

e promoting adherence to policies, procedures, regulations
and laws

e  promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations

A review has been conducted on (i) the Group’s internal control
measures and procedures covering all material controls
including operational, financial and compliance controls,
material risks relating to ESG and the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit, financial
reporting functions as well as those relating to the Company’s
ESG performance and reporting; and (ii) risk management
functions in the principal subsidiaries of the Company for the
Year.
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Internal Control

1.

Governance Control

The control structure of the Control Systems is set out as
follows:

The Board

responsible for the overall Control Systems and
reviewing their effectiveness

oversee the Control Systems on an ongoing basis with
the assistance of the Audit Committee

ensure maintenance of appropriate and effective
Control Systems

define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limits of authority

determine the nature and extent of significant risks
(including ESG risks) that the Company is willing to
take in achieving the strategic objectives and
formulate the Group’s risk management strategies

Audit Committee

review and discuss the Control Systems with the
management annually to ensure that the management
has performed its duty to maintain effective Control
Systems. This discussion includes the adequacy of
resources, staff qualification and experience, training
programs and budget of the Company’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting function

review the nature and extent of significant risks
(including ESG risks), and the Company’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external
environment

consider major findings on internal control matters (if
any) raised by internal or external auditor and make
recommendations to the Board

review and discuss annually with the significant
control failings or weaknesses that are identified and
raised by the auditors
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Executive Committee

review the effectiveness of ESG-related risk management
and internal control systems and report to the Audit
Committee for its review

The management (includes heads of business units,
departments and divisions)

design and implement the Control Systems policy and
procedures duly endorsed by senior management and
the Board

monitor the Control Systems properly and ensure that
they are executed effectively

monitor risks and take measures to mitigate risks in
their day-to-day operations

give prompt responses to, and follow up the findings
on internal control matters raised by internal or
external auditors

provide written confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Control Systems

prepare organization charts to show the reporting
relationships within the operation and management to
establish lines of responsibilities

Internal Audit Department

carry out the analysis on sample basis and independent
appraisal of adequacy and effectiveness of the
Control Systems in respect of all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance
aspects;

alert the management on the audit review findings or
irregularities, if any, and advise them on the
implementation of necessary steps and actions to
enhance the internal controls of the Group

report the results of internal audit reviews and agreed
action plans to the Audit Committee and the Board on
regular basis.
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2. Operational Controls

During the Year, the management had analyzed the control
environment identified risks pertaining thereto, and
implemented various controls therein as follows:

Approach taken: The management communicates
with relevant staff, reviews relevant documentation of
the Control Systems and evaluates findings of any
deficiencies in the design of the Group’s Control
Systems, provides recommendations for improvement
and assesses the effectiveness of implementation of
such recommendations, where appropriate. The
scope and findings of review on the Control Systems
will be reported to and reviewed by the Audit
Committee annually.

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines: To
safeguard the assets against unauthorized use or
disposition and ensure maintenance of proper
accounting records that are in compliance with the
applicable laws, rules and regulations for the
provision of reliable financial that are information for
internal use and / or external publication.

Management information system and technology:
To control over the business activities allows close
tracking of various inputs and outputs of the Group’s
business such as inventory, products, customer
information system and human resources. It also
tracks audit trails in the authorization system under
which permissions and responsibility of authorization
are clearly identified and adequate records can be
maintained in the Control Systems.

Reports and variance analysis: Reports and analysis
of each operating segment are conducted on regular
basis such that the performance of each point of
sales and each product category can be easily
accessible.
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Information flow: The transparent information flow
alerts the management promptly of any deviations.
Benchmarking with historical database and comparisons
with the same also acts as a detecting device for
spotting unusual activities.

Safeguarding of assets: A number of general
insurance policies are maintained including general
accident insurance on the asset in office, warehouse,
retail stores against robbery, burglary, fire and
flooding. Insurance for unexpected operational risks
and marine insurance for cargo shipment from
suppliers or manufacturers which are not on CIF terms
are also maintained. Stock take is conducted at least
once a year and cycle counts may be prescribed by
operation head. Daily cash count at retail shops and
reconciliation is concluded.

Quality control: starting from procurement stage in
selection of furniture suppliers and product offering:

» For “Ulfenbo” / "Slumberland” products and
products for special projects, suppliers and
manufacturers are required to produce evidence
of compliance such as test reports, raw material
suppliers’ certificates and documents on electrical
parts.

» Before placing purchase orders with any new
furniture suppliers, the procurement team will
assess their workmanship and product quality as
well as their reputation in the industry.

»  For products of new design which are usually first
released in the international furniture exhibitions
and fairs, the procurement team will inspect the
products for workmanship and safety or quality
issue. Regular meetings are held between the
procurement team and the inspection and repair
team to exchange, discuss and resolve any quality
issue with the products. We also engage
independent third parties from time to time to
inspect products manufactured in the PRC.
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For custom-made furniture, the project team
conducts pre-shipment inspection at the factory
of our outsourced manufacturers by checking of
random samples of the finished products on
workmanship and other specifications such as
size, labelling and packaging to verify that the
finished lots conform to such specifications
before delivery.

When the cargos of our products are shipped to
Hong Kong, the logistics team will check the
quantity, shipping mark and package condition of
the products upon their delivery to our warehouse.
If the Company discovers there is any damage to
the container, our logistics team will inform
insurance broker and see if surveyors need to
attend the devanning of the container. When
devanning, the logistics team will examine the
package condition to look for defect. For products
of new model or from new supplier, our
procurement and sales team will perform checking
when the goods arrive at the store for display.

If any complaint is received in respect of any
product which is attributable to manufacturing
defect, the procurement team in conjunction with
the inspection and repair team would make a
decision as to whether or not to inspect other
pieces of the same product model from the same
shipment to see if similar manufacturing defect
occurs in the same batch of shipment.

Our management will be informed if defects are
found and our sales director will decide whether to
proceed with insurance claim and / or liaise with
the relevant supplier for negotiation of appropriate
remedy.
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viii. Purchase: The Group maintains a list of approved

suppliers for purchase of inventory. All suppliers and
their payment terms are pre-approved by Managing
Director and recorded in systems. Managing Director
stipulates the amount of inventory purchase each
month after taking into account of inventory level and
sales forecast. Inventory provision policy is based on
aging position of inventory items and their condition.
All consignment items are approved by Managing
Director on a case-by-case basis.

Retail Sales and wholesale sales: Discount policy
and credit policy are in place. All discounts offered
must be pre-approved by management. No credit is
given to retail customers. Goods refund must be
approved by management. Consignment of Ulfenbo /
Slumberland products to dealers must be approved
by General Manager.

3. Financial Controls

proper controls are in place for the recording of
complete, accurate and timely accounting and
management information;

annual budget and quarterly forecast on all capital
and revenue items are prepared and approved by the
management before being adopted;

the management monitors the business activities
closely and reviews monthly financial results of
operations against budgets / forecast;

regular reports on revenue, trade receivables’ ageing
and debtors’ ageing, stock ageing and internal financial
reports are prepared to the management which give a
balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s financial performance;

monthly updates on internal consolidated financial
statements are provided to management and all
Directors which give a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance, financial
position, liquidity and prospects in sufficient details;
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bank reconciliation is performed on monthly basis to
identify unrecorded bank transactions;

monthly inventory count is performed in storerooms
and warehouse;

annual audit by external auditor is carried out to
ensure that the consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, the Group’s accounting
policies and the applicable laws and regulations;

daily available fund report is reviewed to monitor the
cash flows against budgets / forecast; and

review the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff for accounting and financial
reporting function and their training programs.

4. Compliance Controls

The following policies and procedures are in place to
safeguard the compliance control:

Systems and procedures on disclosure of inside
information to ensure, with the assistance of an
internal work team (if required), that any material
information which comes to the knowledge of any one
or more officers should be promptly identified,
assessed and escalated, where appropriate, for the
attention of the Board. The Board shall make timely
decisions on disclosure, if necessary, and take
appropriate measures to preserve confidentiality of
inside information until proper dissemination of inside
information;

Policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements which shall be reviewed and
monitored regularly by the Corporate Governance
Committee as delegated by the Board in order to
ensure that the Company is in compliance with all the
applicable laws, statues, rules and regulations and
keep up on any legal developments;
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CCT Compliance Committee is established to monitor,
control and regularly review connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions of the Group and
ensure proper compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules and disclosure
requirements;

Whistle-blowing policy is established to provide
reporting channels and guidance for employees and
related third parties who have business dealings with
the Group (e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise
concerns and anonymity, in confidence, about any
suspected misconduct or malpractice within the
Company. The Audit Committee, delegated by the
Board, shall ensure that proper arrangements are in
place for fair and independent investigation of any
concerns raised, appropriate follow-up actions are
taken and other recommendations are provided, if
thinks fit;

Anti-corruption policy is established to outline the
Group’s zero-tolerance stance against bribery and
corruption and assists employees in recognizing
circumstances that may lead to or give the
appearance of being involved in corruption or
unethical business conduct, so as to avoid such
conduct which is clearly prohibited, and to promptly
seek guidance where necessary or report any
reasonably suspected case of corruption or any
attempts thereof, to the management through an
appropriate reporting channel; and

Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist
financing policy and procedures is established to
set out the general framework for combating crime
against money laundering and financing of terrorism.
It provides guideline to prevent the Group’s
employees and clients / customers / suppliers /
vendors / contractors from being misused for money
laundering, terrorist financing or other financial crime
and has set out some indications of potentially
suspicious transactions / activities for employees’
reference.
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Review of Internal Controls

Effectiveness of internal controls is tested by Internal Audit
Department regularly. Internal audit reviews and agreed action
plans should be reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on
timely basis.

C. Risk Management

1.

Risk Management Process

The Management regularly reviews overall risks facing by
the Group and changes in market environment. The risk
management process includes risk identification, risk
evaluation, risk management measures and risk control
and review.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify, analyze,
evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate risks associated
with any activity, function or process within its scope of
responsibility and authority. Risks are evaluated by the Board
and management based on (i) the severity of the impact of the
risk on the Group’s financial results; (ii) the probability that the
risk will occur; and (iii) the velocity or speed at which risk may
occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage
the risk as follows:

— Risk elimination — the management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect
eliminate the risk entirely.

- Risk mitigation — the management may implement
risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood,
velocity or severity of the risk to an acceptable level
or contingency plan for possible loss scenarios.

— Risk control and monitoring - it involves making
decisions regarding which risks are acceptable and
how to address those that are not; accidents and
other situations involving loss or near-loss will be
investigated and properly documented as part of the
effort to manage risks.

— Risk retention - the management may decide that
the risk rating is low enough that the risk is
acceptable level and no action is required and the
risk will continue to be monitored as part of the risk
management program to ensure the level of risk
does not increase to an unacceptable level.
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2. Significant Risks and Strategies

Certain significant risks have been identified through the
process of risk identification and assessment. Such
significant risks of the Group and their respective key
strategies / control measures are set out below:

i.  Decline in consumption demand resulted from downturn in
economic, unstable social conditions and outbreak of
covID-19

Facing the unfavourable market situation, the Group:

e Proactively manages the Group’s geographical
presences and develops alternative sales
channel including online shopping;

e Optimizes business operations and shop
establishments;

e Takes stringent cost control measures including
human resources streamline plan, rental
concession / reduction negotiation with landlord,
close loss-making showrooms;

° Closely monitors inventory level,

e  Offers more promotion discount to boost sales;
and

o Introduces new brands and improve synergy to
gain new market segment and channels.

ii.  Interruption of supply chain due to outbreak of
COVID-19 and suspension of suppliers’ manufacturing
plants

e Diversify suppliers from different geographical area to
maintain a stable inventory supply;

e Open communication channels with customers and
to explore alternative arrangements;

e Maintain close contact with suppliers to ensure
that goods can be shipped once the suppliers
resume production; and

e Keep sufficient stock to cater for the possible

longer lead time
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Threat of disruption of operation due to staff’s
contraction of COVID-19

COVID-19 is a highly contagious disease. During
2022, those in close contact with the virus carrier are
subject to quarantine. Retail outlets, offices and
restaurants with staff contracting the disease are
required to suspend business temporarily for thorough
disinfection. To minimize the risk:

e FEvery day Human Resources Department will
identify if there is any staff living in the same
building / estate with confirmed case on the
previous day;

° At the same time, all staff living in the same
building with confirmed case are required to
report to the Company;

e  Staff living in the same building with confirmed case
is required to work from home if possible, or
otherwise take sick leave with immediate effect and
to undergo COVID-19 test. Such staff may only
resume normal working after obtaining negative test
result;

e The Company implements split team arrangement
with part of the staff work from home (“WFH”);
shorten the business hours of its showrooms and
roadshows during the period when the threat of
community infection is high;

e Working hours for office staff have been adjusted
to avoid the peak hours;

e The Company provides masks for staff and
sanitizers at work place;

e Reduce number of meetings and the participants
and use video-conference to minimize close
contact among staff;

° Minimize cross location contacts;

e Purchase notebook for computer upgrade to
facilitate WFH; and
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As the threat of COVID-19 declined in Q1 & Q2
2023, the Company also follows the government’s
move to relax some of the above measures. The
Company will keep monitoring the development
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iv.  Reliance on Hong Kong market iv. KEBEEETS
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To diversify the market exposure, the Group explores
online option with no territorial limitation.
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v.  Shop location and rental expenses V.

Shop rental is always the key cost component of the
Group. The significant fluctuation of shop rents may

affect the Group’s profitability. The Company seeks to B AR ERNEENEF 6
reduce the risk of cost increases in the following 7o RATHR@EBLIT

ways: BB AS IS AN Ay R B

52

Establish good relationship with landlords and
developers, keep abreast of rental of premises in
the vicinity to cater for showroom replacement, if
required;

Explore other locations with good potential at
reasonable level. Traffic and relative position to
competitors nearby are also evaluated;

Perform profitability forecast to determine
financial viability;

Closely monitor individual shop performance and
profitability to determine their renewal options;

Set up pop up stores at low rent to learn more
about the foot traffic and spending power of the
location before setting up a long-term showroom;
and

critically review and consolidate its point of sales
and roadshows to take into account the impact of
decline in consumption.
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Product selection

Product selection is the area where the Group should
focus on in order to make sure that we stay ahead of
the competition:

e The Group maintains a high quality purchasing
team with good market trend knowledge;

e  Convene regular sales meeting to review the sales
trend and market response to products; and

e Visit suppliers and furniture fairs after Hong Kong
gradually resumes to normal.

Inventories turnover management

A higher, or quicker, inventory turnover decreases the
cash conversion cycle. An effective inventories turnover
management is in place:

e There is regular review on inventory ageing
position and comparison with sales forecast and
market trend;

e High-value items are purchased after sales
orders are received;

e Maintain close business relationship and
communication with manufacturers to strive for
optimal and timely supply;

e Hold bargain and warehouse sale for long aged
items; and

e Select suppliers that have no minimum order
quantity.

Cyber security risk

In order to mitigate cyber security risk, the following
measures are in place:

e The Company’s IT infrastructure is regularly
scanned and patched;

e Risky external IP addresses are blocked;

Vi.

Vii.

EmEE

EmEEDNAREER IR
DU R I PITE B 3 PR FF A S
i :

s FEEHFFETNSEED
MEERRBEEK

s HREHHEESRE UE
EHEBBRERTHER
e &

s NEBBHMELEER 2
BHERAERER-

FRABEE

ERRERNEFERBSRER
SERBEY - AREEHEEN
WEEREEME

s TEHESEHFRERMRIU
REHERALTSBE
g

s HBWIHEERBESEE
o

s HEREWRFBIINER
BAREBERE DUFRRE
£ K BRp iz fHEHE

s AEBEGRRERRMNYMIE
TRELAFERHE K

. ﬁéiﬁa—ﬁﬁ BERH

viii. #BAEEZR R

EB%{EE ﬂ/l\u Kéﬁ\:l&ﬁ ’
HELL T -

REEE

s XAFAEEHREENH

BRI ERRR

o EREKRAIISNEIPH I 2 E
FEA&

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEFEERA R
Annual Report 2022/2023 &

53



54

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREARE

Emails are filtered for spam and malware and
training about dangerous email attachments are
provided;

Install specialized ransomware / virus detection
software in all computers;

Access rights to the Group’s systems are strictly
controlled and regularly reviewed; and

Regular backups of data for recovery.

ix.  Risk on unethical behaviour of the Board and employees

Strengthen supervision, management accountability
and financial control;

Improve risk management and internal control
systems;

Evaluate and enhance internal audit functions;

Maintain effective whistleblowing policy and
procedures as well as employee handbook;

Promote culture of integrity; and

Maintain policy and procedures on disclosure of
interest before transaction.

D. Management Confirmation

The Board acknowledged that it had received a confirmation
from the management on the effectiveness of the Control
Systems of the Group for the Year. The Audit Committee and the
Board, upon reviewing the Control Systems, were not aware of
any significant issues that would have an adverse impact on the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s operational, financial
and compliance areas of the Control Systems.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy setting out the
principles for the Board to determine appropriate amount of
dividend to be distributed to the Shareholders. The Company
intends to provide Shareholders with regular interim and final
dividends (as the case may be) based on the earnings attributable
to its Shareholders after taking into consideration of the factors as
stated in the policy, including inter alia, (i) cash flow requirements
for business operations; (ii) cash available, financial liabilities and
capital commitment; (iii) market environment and challenges; and
(iv) future development and investment opportunities. The
declaration of dividends or recommendation on such payment shall
be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations including
but not limited to the Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“CQO”) and the Articles of
Association of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s Shareholders’ Communication Policy (available on
the website of the Company) sets out the strategies, practices and
commitment for maintaining ongoing and effective communication
with Shareholders, both individual and institutional, and in
appropriate circumstances, the investment community at large so
as to enable them to engage with the Company and exercise their
rights as shareholders in an informed manner. To this end, the
Company strives to ensure that all Shareholders have ready and
timely access to all publicly available information of the Group. To
facilitate communication with Shareholders and the investment
community, the Company has established various communication
channels, as follows: (i) the holding of AGMs and extraordinary
general meetings, if any, which may be convened for specific
purposes to provide opportunities for the Shareholders to
communicate directly to the Board; (ii) the publication of
announcements, annual reports, interim reports and / or circulars as
required under the Listing Rules and press releases providing
updated information of the Group; (iii) the availability of latest
information of the Group on the Company’s website at https://www.
Ulfertsintl.com; (iv) the holding of press conference(s) from time to
time; and (v) meeting with investors and analysts on a regular basis
and participate investor road show and sector conference.
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Regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and general
presentations are made when financial results are announced.
Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s
website to raise enquiries through our Investor Relations
Department whose contact details are available on the Company'’s
website and the “Corporate Information and Key Dates” section of
this annual report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for
substantial separate issues, including re-election of retiring Directors.
The Company’s notice to Shareholders for AGM is sent to Shareholders
at least 21 days before the meeting and notices of all other general
meetings are sent to Shareholders at least 14 days before the
meetings. The Chairman of the Board and the chairman / members of
the Board Committees, appropriate management executives and the
independent auditor were available to attend the 2022 AGM to answer
questions from the Shareholders. With the assistance of the Company
Secretary, the Chairman of the meeting had explained the procedures
for conducting a poll voting during the meeting.

The Company shall review the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
annually to ensure its implementation and effectiveness. Having
considered the multiple channels of communication and
engagement in place, the Board is satisfied that the Shareholders’
Communication Policy has been properly in place during the Year
and is effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders as
required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG Code:

Right to Convene / Call General Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of
all the Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings may
send a request to the Company pursuant to Section 566 of the CO.
The request must state the general nature of the business to be
dealt with at the meeting, and may include the text of resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the
meeting. Requests may consist of several documents in like form. A
request may be sent to the Company at its registered office for the
attention of the Company Secretary in hard copy form or in
electronic form and must be authenticated by the relevant
Shareholder(s). Such request will be verified with the Company’s
share registrar and the Company Secretary will request the Board to
convene a general meeting within 21 days upon its confirmation
that the request is in order. Such meeting must be held on a date
not more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the
meeting and such notice must include notice of the resolution.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
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Section 568 of the CO provides that if the Directors do not within 21
days as stated above to call a general meeting, the Shareholders
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves call a general meeting, but the meeting so
convened must be called for a date not more than 3 months after
the Directors become subject to the requirement to call a meeting.
The meeting must be called in the same matter, as nearly as
possible, as that in which that meeting is required to be called by
the Directors. The business that may be dealt with at the meeting
includes a resolution to be dealt with at the meeting. All reasonable
expenses incurred by the Shareholders of this purpose must be
reimbursed by the Company.

Putting forward Proposals at General Meetings

Section 615 of the CO provides that (i) Shareholder(s) representing
at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all Shareholders; or (ii) at
least 50 Shareholders having a right to vote on the resolution at the
AGM may request the Company to circulate a notice of a resolution
to be properly moved or is intended to be moved at that meeting.
Such request must identify the resolution to be moved at the AGM,
must be authenticated by the relevant Shareholder(s) and sent to
the registered office of the Company for the attention of the
Company Secretary in hard copy form or in electronic form not later
than 6 weeks before the relevant AGM or if later, the time when the
notice of AGM is dispatched.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director are available for viewing on the Company’s website.

Enquires from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited. Other
Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

For the purpose of providing flexibility to the Company in relation to
the conduct of general meeting to be held as a hybrid meeting
where Shareholders may attend by electronic means in addition to
being present in person, the Company adopted a new articles of
association (“New Articles of Association”) during the Year. The
adoption of the New Articles of Association was approved by the
Shareholders at the 2022 AGM. The New Articles of Association is
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the
independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with applicable standards. Members of the
Audit Committee were of the view that the Company’s auditor,
Messrs. Ernst & Young (“EY”) is independent and had recommended
the Board to propose its re-appointment as the Company’s auditor at
the 2023 AGM. During the Year, EY had rendered audit services and
certain non-audit services to the Group and the remuneration paid /
payable to it by the Group is set out as follows:

Service rendered FriE{tpRFE

Audit services #ZERHE
Non-audit services: JEZERTE :

- Agreed upon procedures for continuing connected transactions

— Review of preliminary results announcement
BT EENE

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
Annual Report 2022/2023 &R

BB Bt RME

EREZESERBERKBERZE %%ﬁ&ﬂﬂ
BB LERARSMBRKE

B BB BERIL - é&xﬁﬁﬁﬁwﬁ
AT ZZBRKETMEB("TRK ) B
BUATTEREFENR2028REAFRE
FRESHEZEERR AT ZXBAED - RAF
ER KkEBRASERMZEBRELETIE
ZBURTS - MASEEN BN TR
I -

Fees paid/
[EVEL][]
EfF &R

HK$’ 000
FET
800

17




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CEMVE S R

EY:

To the members of Ulferts International Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ulferts
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 66 to 139, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

FABtEEtEIR

Write-down of inventories fo net realisable value

Wil 7 B E o] @I FE

ARSI SRR
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BV ES A EIERRESN TR

The Group had inventories with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$43,639,000 as at 31 March 2023.
The Group periodically reviews the net realisable value
of inventories to determine whether any write-down of
inventories to their net realisable value is required. In
estimating the net realisable value of inventories, the
Group considers, inter alia, the nature, ageing and
condition of inventories, current market condition and
other relevant factors.

E5EN2023F3A31 BB RMEEA 43,639,000 T
XEE- BSXEEULTECAERFEETERSES MU

We evaluated management’'s assessment of whether
the Group’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Qur procedures included
evaluating the methodologies, inputs and assumptions
used by the Group in determining the net realisable
value of inventories and the write-down of inventories
required, with reference to, inter alia, the nature,
ageing and conditions of inventories, historical and
subsequent sales information, and current market
conditions.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

RSt EEtEIR

The determination of the net realisable value of
inventories requires management to make significant
assumptions and estimates that affect the reported
amount of inventories and related disclosures.
BEEAZREFEFTEEEBFHBERBRR LG AR
BEECHBSEREBREE -

We focus on this matter due to the magnitude of the
balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required in estimating the
net realisable value of inventories.

HN ARG SEER BEAFTEECAEEFES
ERERG A A BERMEIRNREESEE -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

HEREENEN A BRI L 15 -

Key audit matter

RAEEEI SR

RASEEIZEIE (8)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
KM TN ERIZRAREFH

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
KM EEHNARIEAR BB R

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

YE - BERZRELUREAEESEZREFE

The Group’s management performed impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets for identified retail stores
that continued to underperform by estimating the
recoverable amounts of their property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets based on value-in-
use calculations.

EXEEEECEAREEREEFAEMTRERERE
NZEENYZE - BB LRBLUREREEENARKE
BMHZEWE - BERRBURERAREEEITRE S -

We evaluated the Group’s policy and procedures
in identifying impairment indicators and assessed
management’s significant assumptions used in
the value-in-use calculations by (i) comparing the
budgeted turnover with historical results; and (ii)
assessing the sensitivity of management’s estimates
and assumptions used in evaluating whether
a reasonably possible change in assumptions
could cause the carrying amounts to exceed their
recoverable amounts.

BMEB)VERBEEEBHBRER  L(i)FEER
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Ulferts International Limited EX{tBIFZ G RA T
Annual Report 2022/2023 &

61



62

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

NV P2

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

RAEEEI SR

During the year, the Group recorded impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of HK$2,255,000 and HK$13,336,000, respectively, to
reduce the carrying amounts of these assets to the
recoverable amounts.

FR- EXEEESYE BEARBULEREEERE

RASEEILEIE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

KPR FEH IR IRRAR Tt BIR

In addition, we evaluated the adequacy of financial
statement disclosures relating to impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
oh s BT BRRES RO WBEYE - KB N&RE
DIRERBEEZRE -

DR A 2,255,000 34 7T K 13,336,000 7T« LIS EE
BIBRTE (BB E R eS8 -

Significant judgements and estimates were involved
in the assessment of the recoverable amounts of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of those retail stores, including assumptions on the
budgeted turnover of respective retail stores.
EZETEENYZE - BB NRBLUREREEENA
O SRERE RBERAE LG BEEBRZESENEE
LEBENRK -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3, 13
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

BN RSN G E MR MES » 183K 14 -

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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Responsibhilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chung Chi Ming.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

29 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBnkAt2EaR

Year ended 31 March 2023 &2 2023F3831HIEFE

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FET TET

REVENUE WA 5 216,148 225,457
Cost of sales $§ERA (82,964) (82,820)
Gross profit A 133,184 142,637
Other income and gains EABUA K Wz 5 6,749 2,765
Selling and distribution expenses $5%€ K2 55152 (119,145) (115,279)
General and administrative expenses —f& AT (23,968) (22,770)
Other expenses EBFIsZ (15,591) -
Finance costs B 75 A 6 (2,527) (1,535)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX #tanzmF ( £518 ) 7 (21,298) 5,818
Income tax credit/(expense) FTEFiiE%, () 10 281 (1,676)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL (21,017) 4,142

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
FREN(BR) RENZHEKE (EBER) B8

Attributable to: FE{L :
Owners of the parent BATHEH A (21,017) 4,142

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
FAREBRESESABIGERER(EBE)

Basic and diluted (expressed in HK cents per share) (2.63) 0.52
BEARNEE (FRLUBNAELLD)

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
iR e AR

31 March 2023 202383831

2023 2022

Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B EE FET FET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEREI & E

Property, plant and equipment 2 - = M& 13 3,288 9,746
Right-of-use assets S E 14 49,794 71,227
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 17 9,788 10,454
FANRIA ~ RE REMBKGIR

Deferred tax assets EILHIIEE E 21 5,182 5,311
Total non-current assets FJERENE EEE 68,052 96,738

CURRENT ASSETS & E

Inventories & 15 43,639 57,833
Trade receivables & 5B FIE 16 3,085 3,525
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 17 19,461 14,876
FANRIE  Re R EMBKGIR

Tax recoverable AIUL[EIFIE - 710
Cash and cash equivalents & MIRESEY) 62,059 76,804
Total current assets RENE EAEE 128,244 153,748

CURRENT LIABILITIES 7@ & &

Trade and bills payables B S B8R EN ZiK 18 5,199 10,402
Other payables and accruals Ef{t &R FRIE MK FEETE A 19 24,020 38,108
Lease liabilities fHE A& 14 36,777 40,334
Provisions # & 20 3,741 5,144
Tax payablef&f 18 206 -
Total current liabilities 7iEh & (E#2%8 69,943 93,988
NET CURRENT ASSETS mE&EFE 58,301 59,760
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 126,353 156,498

REERRBERE

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREI& &

Lease liabilities THE& & 14 30,115 36,070
Provisions #{# 20 6,521 5,694
Total non-current liabilities JEREN & (E48%8 36,636 41,764
Net assets EEFE 89,717 114,734

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIFEBRA R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
& MR ER

31 March 2023 20233831

2023 2022
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B & FET FET
FQUITY #Ex

Equity attributable to owners of the parent B4 B #H AFE(LE2E
Share capital A& 22 110,337 110,337
Retained profits/(accumulated losses) 1R & %A ( 5118 ) (20,620) 4,397
Total equity #5828 89,717 114,734

Wong Chi Fai Chan Chuen Yin
BEE1E FREE
Director Director

s £

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
nEEREER

Year ended 31 March 2023 &Z2023F3831HIEFE

Retained
profits/
(accumulated
Share losses) Total
capital REBEF equity
B A (REtEE) gk
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET TFET TFET
At 1 April 2021 }A20214F 4 A1 H 110,337 5,295 115,632
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year - 4,142 4,142
FERRA N2 EW B
Final 2021 dividend declared - (5,040) (5,040)
TR 2021 FEREKL S
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 110,337 4,397 114,734
1202243831 H k202244811
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - (21,017) (21,017)
FABBNEEEBERE
Final 2022 dividend declared &K 2022 FF R H % S - (4,000) (4,000)
At 31 March 2023 }2 202343 5 31 H 110,337 (20,620) 89,717

Ulferts International Limited EX{tBIFZ G RA T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
meRERE

Year ended 31 March 2023 &2 2023FE3831HILFEE

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KR&FENIRESAE

Profit/(loss) before tax ERBLEISA, (518 ) (21,298) 5,818
Adjustments for: LA TR IEFTERE ¢
Finance costs Bf#5AN 6 2,527 1,535
Interest income | EUA 5 (1,245) (275)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 5,909 7,037
M~ BB NERBITE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FRELSETE 7 42,511 39,733
Gain on lease modification FA & &8T5 = (8)
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 7 (15) -
HEWE - BB NERBIEE W
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net 7 (6) 166
B o ENRIERE,(BERE ) $5E
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 7 2,255 -
W=~ BB KR EBRE
Impairment of right-of-use assets {§HEE ERE 7 13,336 -
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 7 1,545 1,556
MR EEREEEE
Provision for restatement costs — decrease in estimated provisions - (15)

BN — AR ERD

45,519 55,547
Decrease/(increase) in inventories &E4 /(120) 12,649 (11,735)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 8 ZEWFIE R (3Eh0) 446 (430)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (4,482) (439)
TEFRIA ~ #BE MCE M B NGRIEE N
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables (5,203) 1,587
B S ENRIERENEEIG I, CR)
Decrease in other payables and accruals (14,482) (537)
Hith e 5RIE MBS E B
Decrease in provisions &4 (576) (344)
Cash generated from operations & & 5EEFTRIRE 33,871 43,649
Interest received EWAIE 1,245 220
Hong Kong profits tax refunded/(paid) #&i& (Y ) EHEFIEH 1,326 (6,882)
Net cash flows from operating activities K& FEFFEIR SR EIFE 36,442 36,987

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ReHERE

Year ended 31 March 2023 &Z2023F3831HIEFE

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FAET FET

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES #&;58IRE&A7E

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (1,312) (8,430)
BEWE - BRENRIBIER
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 15 -

HEDF - BEARBEBFTERIR

Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,297) (8,430)
KERHFTARSNEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES R& &8RS mE

Principal portion of lease payments A& iz KL E D (43,363) (38,866)
Interest portion of lease payments 1 &{J 52 F S22 (2,527) (1,535)
Dividend paid Efffg & (4,000) (5,040)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (49,890) (45,441)

MEEHTRREMEFE

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (14,745) (16,884)
RERBEEEVMRDFE

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 76,804 93,688
FORELFASEEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 62,059 76,804
FRASRASFEY

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
RE KR EEVR/RINT

Cash and bank balances IR& K iRI1TH 62,059 76,804
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

72

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered
office of the Company is located at Units 1905-07, 19th Floor,
Emperor Group Centre, 288 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 29 January 2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the following
principal activities:

e retail of imported furniture
e wholesale of imported furniture
e  project sales (“special projects”)

The immediate holding company of the Company is Ulferts
International Group Holdings Limited which is incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

In the opinion of the directors, Albert Yeung Investments
Holdings Limited (“AY Investments Holdings”) (incorporated in
the BVI) is the ultimate holding company of the Company which
is in turn held by First Trust Management AG acting as the
trustee of Albert Yeung Investments Discretionary Trust, a
private discretionary trust set up by Dr. Yeung Sau Shing,
Albert (“Dr. Albert Yeung”).

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, all
companies directly or indirectly controlled by respective private
discretionary trusts set up by Dr. Albert Yeung other than the
Group are collectively referred to as the “Emperor Group”.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. REREEER (#)

Information about subsidiaries BREMBAT &
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KA FERBARZFHBENT

follows:

Issued
ordinary
share capital

Place of
incorporation
and business

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

Principal
activities

FEXH

MR EEE SRITERRA AAFEEEEES L

Direct Indirect

Ei% i

Ulferts International British Virgin US$1 100 — Investment holding
Investment Limited Islands 1ES BEZRK
EL R EBRAR KBRS
Ulferts of Sweden Hong Kong HK$350,000 - 100 Retail and wholesale
(Far East) Limited 58 350,000 87T of imported
ImEEME (iE3R) furniture, and
BRAF special projects
EORBTERLRER
T#EER
Ulferts of Sweden Macau MOP25,000 - 100 Liaising with project
(Macau) Limited ! 25,000;8F 7T customers in Macau
I R (OBRPT ) i RPIIEE R P
BRAR
Mighty Wish Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100 Provision of group
EEHRAT EH5E 1,000,000 7T tenancy agent
services
RHEEREAE
PR 75

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in %% R ERFIFICARATIWBARTY
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for ERETEERIERAEREEFE
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Ek*ﬁﬁzﬁﬁ?@? BEERA RHHE
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the B AR HEEERRBEANRILE
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 mEELE

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention. These consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000”) except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BAFEERaRbIEE

31 March 2023 8(Z2023F3831HLFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (a) the fair value of the consideration received, (b)
the fair value of any investment retained and (c) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the

first time for the current year’s consolidated financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and

HKAS 41

Annual Improvements
fo HKFRSs 2018-2020

2.1

2.2

RBIEE )
SHELE (&)
EAEEFREATBXIERSEaEE

NEE;BE #Emi WA AXERE
MEVNRARERERHNH-

HEE LBERER EX ATl =186 A
R —HXZEHRES AKEIEN
AAEERTEFRRKREANT - RAEZEH
BZHRBARMBREERZIARRER

25

HAEBARE—FEHRBARZZHE Bl
HBRERER()ZNBARCEE (BER
2) R&E  (NVEMIHER R R 2 R
B (NN ERANRER RBEERER K
R (a) TR EZ AFE ~ (0)FTREER
REZNFEN(C)BERPERNRALESZ
BARZETE - SERIN A2 Ut R
RAKBEAGE D BEMN DB RBRNR
BaA (NER ) RBNMAEEEEEH
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AEEERAFEREMBERKPERER
MUATRAERT BB B R ELER]

BBV B EERE 3 BLSEZ A

FRZABRT A

EBLETER| D~ BB R AR
F165E 2B A BEEFZRINIAT

7EsE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conception
Framework”) issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that
would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a
business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should
refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead
of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify
for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to business
combinations that occurred on or after 1 April 2022. As
there were no business combinations during the year, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items as
determined by HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to
items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after 1 April 2021. Since there was no sale of
items produced prior to the property, plant and equipment
being available for use, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a
contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for
an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling
the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled
all its obligations at 1 April 2022 and no onerous contracts
were identified. Therefore, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendment that is applicable to the Group are as follows:

e HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or
received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower
or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has applied
the amendment prospectively from 1 April 2022. As
there was no modification or exchange of the Group’s
financial liabilities during the year, the amendment did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

22 FETRIREH R INE (#)

(c)

(d)

BB R E 37 IETTAEBE
BIRBEE BT ERIZE 37 RTHHEH
REBBEMS  BITANNERAR
FHAENEEEBENRA - HE50E
EEBENRABERITZAANEE
A (BlanEiEs TRV ) KRBT
AR EEEBENEMERADE (B0
DEBITENFTAME  WEREE
HEMTEEALUNEGNEERES
BOAS ) o — A% S AT B A B A 49 I 4
HERFE RIFRBESNBRERYEF
FWE SRIABEER AEEED
HR2022F 4B 1HEKBITAIES
BHNEORIEEERAZSEETA B
WEBBHEESGDN - ALt ZZ5E
ST ARE RSB BT FSAR LSk IR A
G

BB IR ER| 2018 4F F 2020 F
CEEBGESSNE BV IEREEASE
155 BBUBRELEAEIR &F
BF 75 R e YE B 25 16 SREE B 2 s AR 14 7R
BIREBSEHERISE 572 (E5] - T8
B EANAER CZFETH B
T

o BEUBREEANFIFSHT
A BEEENTG—ENE
KETTeREBECRRRREE
LARARARESRAE B GREFRT
AACER  ZSEREREE
AIANEEFAZBEELIERZ
EH HPBEERATERA
RES—HARWEZER -
AEFBH2022F 451 BiLETHE
HEBZSETAR  BRNAEE
AREENSHAERBEES
SR ZEBTAHAERN
MR DR RB BT MTE -

Ulferts International Limited EX{tBIFZ G RA T

Annual Report 2022/2023 4R

77



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

23 ERBERRENZEEMTE
wE2ER
AEELRNZESBREFEAUTE

TR SR R T R AR (SR T B S
SR

Amendments to HKFRS

Sale or Contribution of Assets

EAMBREEANS REFHARENA

10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its 10SEREBEEHE HEERESEN
(2011) Associate or Joint Venture® AIZE 28 5% (2011 BEHENTES
)
ZIEETA
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and ERUBREENSE SEMAEL
HKFRS 16 Leaseback? 165 ERT A HE&S/EF?
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts' ERMEHREERE RESAE
1758
Amendments to Insurance Contracts' ® BB EEANE REEEAS
HKFRS 17 17 SRR TAR
Amendment to Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and BRSNS BB EERE
HKFRS 17 HKFRS 9 — Comparative 17 52 BF TR 17 B REBRIHHR
Information® EERIZE 9SEHIRT
R — FEBEE R 6
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as EESEERE BESEREISIF
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current (the “2020 152 (ER] A JiE (T 2020 FEAE
Amendments”)2 4 HENDES
Amendments to Non-current liabilities with HBEEERSE e e =]
HKAS 1 Covenants (the “2022 1SRRI A 1& (" 2022515
Amendments”)? Ki)?
Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting Policies’ BB R EEAE SR EE
HKFRS 1 and 1 RNE BT R
HKFRS Practice HEAEFRES
Statement 2 2FRABET A
Amendments to Definition of Accounting Estimates’ BRAVBEREERNSE ST ZEE
HKFRS 8 8RBT A
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and EESEERE HE—RXGEFIE
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single 1252185 T A EREETERE
Transaction' AR

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE

Annual Report 2022/2023 4R




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BAFEERaRbIEE

31 March 2023 8(Z2023F3831HLFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

23 EMEMEERENCE BT

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date
of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a
consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align
the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the
temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39
rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1
January 2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to
the classification overlay set out in this amendment shall
apply it on initial application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are currently
expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective
date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was
removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory
effective date will be determined after the completion of a
broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.
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R

8 EERFIEZ BT AR

© HR2022FBET A 2020 F BRI A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3 EEMERRENZEEMT

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16
(i.e., 1 April 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements. In respect of sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate, the Group will develop an
accounting policy for such transactions.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, in particular the determination over
whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current. In
addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures
by an entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when it has a right to defer
settlement of those liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based
on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3 EEMERRENZEEMT

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-
mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is
non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not
necessary. The Group is currently revisiting the accounting
policy disclosures to ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in
accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that
occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3 EEMERRENZEEMT

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions
related to leases and decommissioning obligations at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with
any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or other component of
equity as appropriate at that date. In addition, the
amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions
other than leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier
application is permitted. The Group is in the process of
performing a detailed assessment of the impact of these
amendments upon initial application. Subject to further
assessment, the amendments currently are not expected to
have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements in
the period of initial application.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’'s or cash-generating unit's value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEETBURME (#)

(continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

IFEMEBEERE (#)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA75ERaRbIEE

31 March 2023 #(Z 202338315 .LFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXRFEBRME (%)

(continued)

Related parties (continued) RARS S (#8)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions (b) ZALTRFETIEMEHFELS
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZERLEAEERBR—S£EZ
group; REAT ;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (il ZERRS EBER(X5—ER
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary ZBAF - MEARNKRERWE
of the other entity); NE)) SRR EERE

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same (i) ZEREAEFERRA—F=1z
third party; BERE

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the (iv) ZBRA—RE=FERBZEE
other entity is an associate of the third entity; ¥ MBE—EBRZE=AE

il - U/NCIIR

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (v) ZEBRAAREENHEAEREGH
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 2 BREnE BRI AL o B
related to the Group; wmEmMEtE

L)
i
K

E}

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi)

()= P 5 A L2l
identified in (a); ;

& X
/
T
o
i3

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (vii) R@)()BEFMMIATHZERA
over the entity or is a member of the key management BEAREENH /ZERE (X
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); ERCENR ) CEEEEEK
and Bk

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (vii) ZERXAEE EFAKE AT
part, provides key management personnel services to MAEENALEESARRKT
the Group or to the parent of the Group. EEBASR -

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation E - BB R HEITE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less M~ B REBTVIRE AR REITE K&
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost EBEESIESIR M- BRELREE
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its BBRABEEBEBROCZEBEEESR
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing HEFERRLEXZHBRERUE CFE
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended A E LR -

use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEETBURME (#)

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% - 331/3%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEETBURMIE (&)

(continued)

Leases (continued) HE (1)

Group as a lessee (continued) AREFERFAMEA (&)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EFAESE

1)

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the

EREEENREERK A Y (RIEE
EEAHEHED) BR- £RAEE
EZRAE BEEARFATER
ERESE TRHEESENEM
B EFHAR - ERREERKN
BREERABHEERENHE CELE
e EIEBA R FRA B sk B fE
HEERIBREME W EEE -
EREEENEYNEEEGTT AIER
FRC B ERERTETINEG -

M E B AR BN H A RS
BT AEEINARRIT B EEE
e RIREEMTAERFERAEN

estimated useful life of the asset. =3
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEETBURME (#)

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option). When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is
capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and
related payments (including the initial direct costs), and
presented as a receivable at an amount equal to the net
investment in the lease. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic
rate of charge over the lease terms.
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(continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor (continued)

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the
on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies
the sublease as an operating lease.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEETBURME (#)

(continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised cost
(debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(*ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEETBURME (#)

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit
risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to
be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 1-

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -
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(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised
cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEETBURME (#)

(continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred in the process of disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

IR EMaRs

TRBENZEER T T ERRIHEE
S JE MR AR LEFERR

HRAEMEBERS —RERKBR—ERA
DU EARRNR 2 @& ERTE » IR
BREZBEREKRBER  ZFERIRNE
AL IERERRAELERT R ERE
MERHEE M ZENBH AR

EHEMITE

HERBARTZAEENEHEERRS
] W HRLUFREEETEE N R RS

TRt aEIRE > MBRERMBRRER -

i

FELUKALETEEFEMEZBREEA
BRe ORI MBEFHIEEEE - IR
FEIDREGEFEEREEASELER
REEZERTAFTE -

RERBFEFEY

AEERENERME BEMREFE
MBEFEREIERFR - DL AR
RBABENERAL  ISEEESAR
AEm—RENFEF=ZER AR
PaRBERE  BARBEREREZRIT
B3 WIERARERSEEHERID -

REEUBRRXME RErkREFE
MEBFEALBITERES BREHMERK
RBAZRE B ERBSEUCEE -

Ulferts International Limited EX{tBIFZ G RA T

Annual Report 2022/2023 4R

93




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEETBURMIE (&)

(continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in profit or loss.

A provision for reinstatement costs is recognised when a
contractual obligation under the terms of an operating lease
has arisen to reinstate a leased property at the end of the
lease. Reinstatement costs are provided at the value of the
expected costs to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period using estimated cash flows and an equivalent
asset is recognised and depreciated over the term of the
operating lease. The estimated future costs of reinstatement
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEETBURME (#)

(continued)

Income tax (continued) FriS# (%)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary FrEERB B R IEER  YRERRELT
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recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the BoRRBRBEEECFER TEHA - A
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when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
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(continued)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
the reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it
has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEETBURME (#)

(continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the
Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

e Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point
in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally upon delivery of the goods.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEETBURMIE (&)

(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Other income

Other service income is recognised over time, using an output
method to measure the Group’s progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant services.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liahilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates an occupational retirement scheme
registered under the Hong Kong Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the scheme. This scheme has been granted
exemption under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. When an employee leaves the scheme
before his/her interest in the Group’s employer contributions
vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the relevant amount of the forfeited employer’s
contributions.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEETBURME (#)

(continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

Contributions to these schemes are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the schemes. The assets of these schemes are
held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of the reporting period. Non-financial
assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of
an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Provisions for reinstatement costs

The Group makes provisions for reinstatement costs associated
with certain leased properties under operating leases
attributable to the Group based on the estimates of the
expected costs to be incurred to settle the relevant contractual
obligations under the terms of the leases at the end of the
reporting period, which are subject to uncertainties and might
differ from the actual costs to be incurred. Significant
judgements and estimates are required, including, inter alia,
making various assumptions with reference to past experience
and available information to determine the expected costs to
be incurred. Further details are included in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Net realisable value of inventories

The Group periodically reviews the net realisable value of
inventories to determine whether any write-down of inventories
to net reliable value is required. In estimating the net realisable
value of inventories, the Group considers, inter alia, the nature,
ageing and condition of inventories, current market condition
and other relevant factors. Based on such assessment, write-
down of inventories will be made when the carrying amount of
inventories declines below their estimated net realisable value.
Due to changes in market and economic environment and
customers’ preference, actual saleability of inventories and
actual selling prices that could be realised might be different
from the original estimation and profit or loss could be affected
by differences in these estimations.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in
a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate
(“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group principally focuses on the retail and wholesale of
imported furniture, and special projects. Information reported
to the Group’s chief operating decision maker, for the purpose
of resource allocation and performance assessment, focuses
on the operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group'’s
resources are integrated and no discrete operating segment
information is available. Accordingly, no operating segment
information is presented.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

Substantially all of the Group’s revenues from external
customers during the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022 were attributed to Hong Kong based on the location
of the customers or the location of certain key processes/
resources from which the Group derived the revenues.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAF5ERaRMIEE
31 March 2023 #;Z 20234383 1HIEFE
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information (continued)
(b) Non-current assets
All of the Group’s non-current assets as at the end of the
reporting period were located in Hong Kong based on the
location of the assets.

Information about major customers

No revenues from transactions with a single external customer
for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 amounted to 10%
or more of the total revenue of the Group.

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers 25 & 29 A

4, BEDIEF (#)

HhREF ()
(b) FERENEE

AEBRBERRZIERBEERE
EFTRAEZRHMLNER

BRAEERRZEHN

B E2023F K 2022F 3831 HIEFEE
BEREE —IMNBEERZG 2N ARE

BB A 10%E L -

5. WA~ EftUlI AR

WADHTEAT -

2023

HKS$’ 000
FET

2022

HK$’ 000
FET

Retail of furniture IR S & 195,018 212,166
Wholesale of furniture {x {f i 3 12,987 8,081
Special projects — project sales Ti2IBEH —IBH44 & 8,143 5,210
216,148 225,457

Revenue from contracts with customers EREHIWA

(i) Disaggregated revenue information
For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022

Types of goods & 2455l

(i) HFIAEH

B E2023F R 202253831 HiL&E

E

2023

HK$’ 000
FET

2022

HK$’ 000
FET

Sale of furniture R {fh 458 E 216,148 225,457
Timing of revenue recognition Y A #E 2 iR
At a point in time JAE — 2, 216,148 225,457
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA75ERaRbIEE

31 March 2023 #(Z 202338315 .LFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

5. WA~ EfIA R U (17)
EESHMA (#)
(i) BIGAERH (i)

TRERAREHERAB 2 W RS
B AStARERVENEBELNE
THEETEAOEERER

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

Revenue recognised that was included in contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:
SFABREPIENE B CHEBIA

Sale of goods $§EE R 19,955 22,898
Sale of gift vouchers &4 45 €& 697 587
20,652 23,485

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is generally satisfied upon delivery of
goods. For retail sale of furniture, payment in advance and/or upon
delivery by customers is normally required. For wholesale of
furniture, payment is generally due within 30 to 60 days from the
date of billing. For project sales, payment is generally due based
on terms agreed by relevant parties as set out in the respective
agreements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The Group generated revenues from certain projects for the
supply of custom-made furniture and other related products
and services (“project sales”). The Group entered into several
contractual agreements with certain third parties for the supply
of custom-made furniture and related services, pursuant to
which the Group directly/indirectly delivered such goods and
services to certain members of the Emperor Group and, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, these are special
project arrangements involving certain members of the
Emperor Group. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Group recognised project sales revenues of approximately
HK$9,000 under such arrangements.

Other income and gains E{thl§ A B ULz

5. U~ EfthUI AR Uz (#8)

ER KU ()

AEBRETHEEFREREMBEAE
mERBENIBEBEEEAWA (TTEEHE ) -
AEFEETHE = EERS T REM
FEBRBEI L2 AN itk K
EEEER BMEXNZEIRERET
ETHREELEKEAT MAADESR
B RERENDSRREEERENTZ
TREBZHE REZE2022F3831HLE
FE AEERBEZSELHHERBEEHEE
IWA%9 9,000 37T °

2023 2022

HK$’ 000
FET

HK$’ 000
FET

Other service income E {th iR #5 W A 1,445 1,465

Government subsidies* [ JiF 4@ Bf * 3,283 177

Bank interest income £R 174 B WA 1,245 275

Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 15 -

HEWE - BB MRRBEB 2 S

Others Hfth 761 848
6,749 2,765

* The government subsidies for the current year mainly
represented subsidies received under the Employment
Support Scheme and the Phasing Out Euro IV Diesel
Commercial Vehicles — Ex-gratia Payment Scheme of the
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. The
government subsidies for the prior year mainly represented
subsidies received under the Phasing Out Euro IV Diesel
Commercial Vehicles — Ex-gratia Payment Scheme of the
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating
to the subsidies.

o ORARER BUNEBEEEREE B
AT BT R3S A 8 KB AR
MU AL m S SR B i — R R B B AT B R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2023 & Z2023F3331HIHFE

6. FINANCE COSTS 6. HATERLAK
2023 2022
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T T#T
Interest on lease liabilities FHE& & F| & 2,527 1,535
7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7. BRWeRF(EE)
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEERBENRF (BE) BHER (K
(crediting): %) THIRIE -
2023 2022
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THT T
Cost of inventories sold EHERE KA 81,419 81,264
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 1,545 1,556

WA EETRRFE

Total amount recognised as cost of sales 82,964 82,820
ERRAIEERARE

Auditor’s remuneration #Z 2 BN 826 875
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 5,909 7,037
W~ BENRBITE

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEHBEEITE 14 42,511 39,733
Lease payments not included in the measurement 14(c) 4,665 5,909

of lease liabilities

Rt AHEREEZHENR

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration (note 8)):

EERARS(INEBEREENREETHRAEHM (MFE8)):

Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances 39,985 40,055

TE- s TBALROERL

Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution 1,843 1,801
schemes)*

RSB (EREMERETE] )

41,828 41,856
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net 16 (6) 166
B S EMIERE,(BERE ) 58
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 5 (15) -
HEWZE - BENRBEE W
Impairment of property, plant and equipment” 13 2,255 -
YZE -~ BB MR BE A
Impairment of right-of-use assets A& EZBE N 14(a) 13,336 -
Foreign exchange differences, net [ERZ% - ;848 (402) (317)

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBRZAE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2023 & Z 2023303 1HIEFE

7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (continued) 7. BRRMELEF(ER) (#)
A Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of t FFAGREEBEHEREMEERERATE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. fthFAz e
*  There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the * AREENNEA RERIELUREIRS MR
Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of IKFE 2 IZ WL o

contributions.

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERTFEITHAEME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration of the Group for REBEBRIFTES LHRL S FBARGH
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing 26383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) K (NELEFHEA
of Securities on the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) B(EEESMHREN )RBIZE 2 5BFTH =
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of RERNEAERESLETETHRAEMEA
the Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about I

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
Fees 8% 1,078 1,028

Other emoluments: E{fhfl< :

Salaries and allowances ¥4 JiERL 2,805 1,828
Discretionary bonuses BJI1E1E4L 117 105
Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution schemes) 120 75

RKEFFEIBER (ERRBETE)

3,042 2,008
4,120 3,036
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIALIEHITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FR- ENBUERTERTZESA
during the year were as follows: I

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TET FHET

Chan Yee Man [R#G5E 180 180

Chiu Kin Fai B2 180 180

Ng Hoi Yue /8T 180 180

540 540

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIFEBRA R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (continued)

8. EERIETHAEME (a)

(a) BIIEBMITES (#4)

There were no other emoluments payable to the FRTEEMBIFEATEEH
independent non-executive directors during the year ft B (20224 © f&) °
(2022: Nil).

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive

(b) MITEERETEITHAE

Pension
scheme
Salaries and Discretionary contributions Total
Fees allowances bonuses Bfk€ remuneration
fag FEREH BOHETEAL SHEIf® & ezE
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TAT TAT TET TET TAT
2023
Executive director and the managing director:
HTEFREERLR
Chan Chuen YinA EE A 88 1,489 62 60 1,699
Executive director and the general director:
WITEERRRE
Mok Fung Lin, lvy E[Es% 150 1,316 55 60 1,581
Executive directors: H{TESE :
Wong Chi Fai @512 150 - - - 150
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa 358% 150 - - - 150
538 2,805 117 120 3,580
2022
Executive director and the chief executive:
WTEERTETRAL
Ng Koon Keung, Ricky* 2@ * 38 552 - 15 605
Executive directors: {TEE
Wong Chi Fai 518 150 - - - 150
Mok Fung Lin, lvy EB# 150 1,276 105 60 1,591
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa S58{% 150 - - - 150
488 1,828 105 75 2,496

N Appointed as executive director and managing director

on 1 September 2022

* Ceased directorship on 1 July 2021

t R2022F9RB T HEZFT AT
EENERAKE

¥ JR202147H 1 HEMEESEE

There was no arrangement under which a director or the FR BREFAEZTHRABRE
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any TR RFRRNE RTINS -

remuneration during the year.

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]
Annual Report 2022/2023 &R




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. hEm=HES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year FRN AEELEZTaF EEEEMA
included two directors (2022: one director), details of whose BEER(2022F  —REFR) HieHS
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the BN EX T8 - Eff=4 (20224 & Y
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2022: four) ZIMIERRBDEENFEFETHAEZ
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief e EENRFNCMESFBNT ¢

executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHExT FHExT
Salaries and allowances 4 fiE8L 2,532 3,441
Discretionary bonuses EVISTEAL 124 228
Pension scheme contributions RRE TR 162 95
2,818 3,764
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest MSETSEERNCIFERE NI FETEITH
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following ABZ &R EEABAIT :

bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EE AE

2023 2022

Nil to HK$1,000,000 &% 1,000,000 7T 2 3

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 %70 1,500,000 77T 1 1

3 4
During the year, no emolument was paid or payable by the FR- $%jﬁﬁﬂiﬂ3t%$&3ti%ﬁﬁz
Group to the non-director and non-chief executive highest paid A B2 815 5 B 18 B 32 3 578 34T (AT B
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group & FRESIMARSKENRMARESR

or as compensation for the loss of office (2022: Nil). B2 SRR SBERIRS (6 (20224F - 48 ) -

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIFEBRA R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2023 & Z2023F3331HIHFE
10. INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Company did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year ended 31 March 2023. Hong Kong
profits tax had been provided at the rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

Current — Hong Kong ENH# — &%

10. Fi15#

RN AATREZE 20234 3H 31 HLILE
ElMELATAREEENERTGF
R FEEH BB ERERE NEE
2022FE3ABIHIEEE  HBENEBD

RESBELEZHTEZR/RERNZF X
16.5%1F BB -

2023 2022

HK$’ 000
FET

HK$’ 000
FET

Charge for the year FRZH - 1,324
Overprovision in prior years 381 £ B 58 #& & (410) (234)
Deferred (note 21) #EZE ( [zt 21) 129 586
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FFAFLIBRES (Kb ) 4858 (281) 1,676

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate (statutory
tax rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and the
majority of the Group’s operating subsidiaries are domiciled) to
the tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective tax rate is as
follows:

BEBEERE (RQAARAEEKRED
RENBARMEREEROEEREK)
SAEEBANRBRBESER(EE) 2HE
X (Ef) BRAEEEBRERXTE
ZBIEZ (%) $ERNT

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FET FET

Profit/(loss) before tax BrELBHF (&8 ) (21,298) 5,818

Tax charge/(credit) at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate of 16.5% (3,514) 960
REBEERE16.5%TBHEIH (EL)

Adjustment in respect of current tax of previous periods (410) (234)

BT HA R B AR TR SR 2

Income not subject to tax FEEEH 2 WA (765) (75)

Expenses not deductible for tax ANAJ 1%+ 5H 52 2,588 165

Tax losses not recognised FRIE 2 FiIEEE 1,597 -

Others Efth 223 860

Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective tax rate (281) 1,676

BRAEEBEREAE A (EL)

Ulferts International Limited BX{tEIFXBRA T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE

31 March 2023 B ZE 20234383 1HILFE

11. DIVIDEND

Final — Nil (2022: HK0.50 cent) per ordinary share
RIS — R EERE (20224 © 0.50 %4l

11.

2023 2022

HK$’ 000
FET

HK$’ 000
TET
- 4,000

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023.
12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts
is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 800,000,000 (2022: 800,000,000) in issue
during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue

during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
is based on:

Earnings/(loss) %%, (€58 )

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
used in the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation
STEEREARNEERA(BE) TRSAREBERERETA
FEAEa R, (E18)

12.

EFCUAEBRRNTEE2023543 A 31
HIEFEZ EMAREEE -

FNEEBRERES ABLE
Es(BA)
SREARF(BE) DREEN D
NSRS L E AN L
B) REND BT EERINEFHE
800,000,000 f% ( 2022 & : 800,000,000
) At

A EEH R E FE 20234 20224 3 A 31
HIEEEWREBEHESERACERITE
B

TIEREFESREARBERA
(BR) 28 :

2023 2022

HK$’ 000
FET

HK$’ 000
FET

(21,017) 4,142

Shares %3

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year
used in the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation

SREEREALEERT(BR) TAZFEFRNERTEBRINETHE

Number of shares
BB EE

2023

800,000,000 800,000,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA75ERaRbIEE

31 March 2023 8220235 3831HILFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y3 ~ B K &%l

Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold equipment Motor
improvements FH - RE vehicles Total

REMmRERE R fid e weat

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET TER TERL TERT

31 March 2023 2023535 31H

At 31 March 2022 and at 1 April 2022:
R2022F 331 HR2022F48 18 ¢

Cost BiA 68,989 6,215 2,397 77,601
Accumulated depreciation £5HE (60,942) (4,905) (2,008) (67,855)
Net carrying amount BREFE 8,047 1,310 389 9,746
At 1 April 2022, net of 8,047 1,310 389 9,746

accumulated depreciation

R2022F 4810 IREHTE

Additions K& 790 396 520 1,706
Depreciation provided during the year (5,061) (649) (199) (5,909)
FANERR

Impairment Jii/& (2,044) (211) - (2,255)
At 31 March 2023, net of accumulated depreciation 1,732 846 710 3,288

and impairment

PR2023E3 331 H  MBREFITENBE

At 31 March 2023: 202338318 :

Cost A 66,009 6,528 2,603 75,140
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (64,277) (5,682) (1,893) (71,852)
ZTERRBE

Net carrying amount BRES(E 1,732 846 710 3,288
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT ERaRbIEE

31 March 2023 &£ 20238 3831HILEE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. )3 ~ RE R a5 fils (#2)

Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold equipment Motor
improvements B RE vehicles Total

REMmRERE R fis e weat

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET TERL TERL TER

31 March 2022 20223 A 31 5
At 1 April 2021: #2021F45 10 :

Cost giA& 62,055 5,529 2,397 69,981
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (57,816) (4,067) (1,829) (63,712)
Net carrying amount BREFE 4,239 1,462 568 6,269
At 1 April 2021, net of accumulated 4,239 1,462 568 6,269

depreciation
P01 F4R 18 HIRRHITE

Additions F& 10,036 478 - 10,514
Depreciation provided during the year (6,228) (630) (179) (7,037)
FRTERR

At 31 March 2022, net of accumulated 8,047 1,310 389 9,746

depreciation
20226 3R 31 B MRREHITE

At 31 March 2022: #202243A 318 :

Cost fiA 68,989 6,215 2,397 77,601

Accumulated depreciation ZiHffE (60,942) (4,905) (2,008) (67,855)

Net carrying amount EFE 8,047 1,310 389 9,746
As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s management identified R2023FE3H31H AKEEEEE ST
certain retail stores which continued to underperform and ETHEXRRAECSEE  TiHTED
estimated the corresponding recoverable amounts of their E - BEMERBEUNEREEEABA
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. Based W% RIEZSHT BRBEEE
on these estimates, impairment losses of HK$2,255,000 and 2,255,000 JT A& 13,336,000 Jt 0 L
HK$13,336,000 were recognised to write down the carrying BZENE - BMEAREBUNERAEEE
amounts of these items of property, plant and equipment and BHHEM2023F3 431 Az RAmAENBE
right-of-use assets to their recoverable amounts of Nil as at 31 Halo]£%8S - AW ol S8 2 At ThiR
March 2023. The estimates of the recoverable amount were BEREETE -

based on the value-in-use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

14. LEASES 14. fHE
The Group as a lessee AEBERAREA
The Group has lease contracts for certain of its office AEERERANESE A THAYE
properties, retail stores, warehouses and equipment used in its FEE BERREE WELFRE B
operations. Leases of properties and equipment generally have BERTN\ERERF-

lease terms of 18 months to 5 years.

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHESE
The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets and FRAEEGEAEEECRAER
the movements during the year are as follows: EEEIIAMT -

Properties and

equipment

YMER

HK$’ 000

THET

As at 1 April 2021 }22021F 451 H 35,776

Additions /R™E 61,158

Transfer to sublease &R F A (3,803)

Lease modification FH&E1E5] 17,829

Depreciation charge & H (39,733)

As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 71,227
202243 331 B R 2022F 43 1H

Additions A"E 8,669

Lease modification FAE&5] 25,745

Depreciation charge #&x (42,511)

Impairment JE{E (13,336)

As at 31 March 2023 /202343 A 31 H 49,794
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 B ZE 20234383 1HILFE

14. LEASES (continued) 14. #HE (%)

REEERABEA (#)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
during the year are as follows:

(b) HEEfR

FREEEEZREELREZEEHT

T

2023

HK$’ 000
FET

2022

HK$’ 000
FET

Carrying amount at 1 April %4 5 1 BiREE 76,404 36,973
New leases HiHE 8,106 60,476
Lease modification A& &3] 25,745 17,821
Accretion of interest recognised during the year 2,527 1,635
FRERHR 28N
Payments {J5k (45,890) (40,401)
Carrying amount at 31 March 32 31 BEREE 66,892 76,404
Analysed into: 274 :
Current portion R E)E 5 36,777 40,334
Non-current portion JEREIER D 30,115 36,070

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

(e) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

HESBEHHAIITNEEYHE

WARMIEF 29 E -

(c) RERERZHEEHRBSIRENTIL
T

2023 2022
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET THET
Interest on lease liabilities FHE & &FI & 2,527 1,535
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets @& EITES H 42,511 39,733
Expense relating to short-term leases 4,608 5,706
(included in selling and distribution expenses)
BRRPAERX (BEEENRDHERAX)
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement 57 203
of lease liabilities (included in selling and distribution expense)
Rt AFFEHEEE (FFABERDHRAX ) « IERERIE
Total amount recognised in profit or loss P8R #2458 49,703 47,177
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

14. LEASES (continued) 14, fHE ()

The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERAMRA (1)

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d) HERSREBABRN GRS M BEHRE
24(c) to the consolidated financial statements. MisE 24(c)iKEE -

(e) Extension options (e) TEFHEREE
The Group has several lease contracts that include AEEBELETEREHEEEN
extension options. These options are negotiated by HEAN 2L EERHEEEER
management to provide flexibility in managing the leased- DEEEBHEEEAS I BAE
asset portfolio and they are aligned with the Group’s EREBERERF - TXHTIEER
business needs. Set out below are the undiscounted EERITEBHEHEMHEBENKRE
potential future rental payments relating to periods REERKEENR(ABEERE
following the exercise date of extension options that are BRA )

not included in the lease terms:

2023

Payable Payable
within after
five years five years Total

RFERZMT hERLM et

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FERT THET TET

Extension options expected not to be exercised 13,143 - 13,143
TAHAARE T B R ERE

2022

Payable Payable
within after
five years five years Total

hERZ hER T #Et

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FET FET FET

Extension options expected not to be exercised 16,552 - 16,552
TERR R TRz BT IE R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAF5ERaRMIEE
31 March 2023 #;Z 20234383 1HIEFE
14. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessor

The Group subleases certain carparks under finance lease
arrangements, with the lease negotiated for a term of three
years.

At 31 March 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable finance leases with its tenants are as follows:

14. & (%)
AEEEBHEA
AEERBRELYS

BERFDPHEETE

S BmERRR=F-

R2023F3H31H AEEEEHBEF AR
AIEEE R B E TR R B R B

FHESMRAT -

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FET FET

Within one year —fF R 660 1,290
After one year but within two years —4E/&{BfER - 660
660 1,950

15. INVENTORIES

15. 78

2023

HK$’ 000
FET

2022

HK$’ 000
FET

Goods held for sale HEE R 43,639 57,833

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES 16. B S EYFIE
2023 2022
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
Trade receivables & Z EW IS 3,359 3,805
Impairment JE{&E (274) (280)
3,085 3,525
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATZERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. B S EWRIE ()

118

The Group’s retail sales are usually paid in cash or by major
credit/debit cards, with the settlement from the corresponding
banks or other financial institutions normally within 7 to 30
days. The Group’s trading terms with its wholesale and project
customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers,
where payment in advance and/or upon delivery is normally
required. The credit period for these customers is generally
one to two months, extending up to six months for major
project customers, or based on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and overdue balances are reviewed by senior management.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the Group as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AEBZFEHEBRTEUREIN N
TEERF/RFPRN  ERRT
NEMEREEBEEGN7E0HAE
B-AEBUEENBEFRBEREFZE
SIEREERUEERTNER  ENEP
—RERTARZAN L RREMNKTT
NEE - ZEBEFPZEER—RE—EM
BR AREENREEFRZEREN
B R SZEB L RES BREAME G E S
R REEDREEZEHEREE B
PR THEREEBEERAMER - K
SETENREE ZBUGIRGEHTE EM
EF R EMERRETER - 2 2B
BRAETE

RBERR AREE ZEYSUE (kR
BEER) ZRRAMRROTT ¢

2023 2022
HK$’ 000

HK$’ 000
FET FET

Within 1 month —@HB A 2,172 2,341
1 to 3 months —&=1EH 658 1,072
Over 3 months =@A LI E 255 112

3,085 3,525

Included in the Group’s trade receivables was an amount due
from a member of the Emperor Group of approximately
HK$55,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$10,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2023 & Z 2023303 1HIEFE

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. B S FEWFRIE (&)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade B2 EBGRIBREBIE RSB H 40
receivables are as follows: T

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TET TET

At beginning of year &#] 280 114
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment loss), net (note 7) (6) 166

BEEE(BERESE)  FE(ME7)

At end of year Z£3R 274 280
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date NEWmE B AR RREEETRES
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. o LT EEBEEBE - BEXRDER
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings REEFFAETOATBIRNBEEHET
of various customer segments. The calculation reflects B ZETERRNREARAAIBNERB
information that is available at the reporting date about past AEH - BRERRKERTTER (208
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic BINER -

conditions, as appropriate.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TXEINERABEEEESHEAEEESE
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: WHRIBE BN EERBNER
As at 31 March 2023 720233/ 31H
Past due
A
Less than 1to3 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months
BNl 2R—ER —E==@BEFR =EBRFRMUL
Expected credit loss rate 5.46% 10.69% 16.30% 32.63% 8.16%
T EEEEX
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 2,124 1,048 92 95 3,359
#AREE (FH5T)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 116 112 15 31 274
TAHEEEE (T8T)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2023 & Z2023F3331HIHFE

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. & S EWEIE (#)
As at 31 March 2022 20224 3H31H
Past due
b |
Less than 103 (0)V/-1¢
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
B SR—EA —Z=ER =EAUNL W
Expected credit loss rate 6.01% 11.24% 20.00% - 7.36%
AR EEEIEXR
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) 3,014 676 115 - 3,805
AEREE (T5T)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 181 76 23 - 280
TREEEEE (T5T)
17. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 17. G FIE - BHER B EUFIE
RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TFET TFET
Prepayments Fa{I5/18 1,523 594
Deposits and other receivables* #&& & H b fE k18 * 27,726 24,736
29,249 25,330
Less: Non-current portion & © 3E71 &85 (9,788) (10,454)
Current portion E1EED 19,461 14,876
*  Included in the Group’s deposits and other receivables were *  JA20234F3H31H EWETHEER
amounts due from certain members of the Emperor Group of EEKE AT RIEA,987,000% JT
approximately HK$1,987,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: (20224 1 2,361,000/ 70 ) 5T AAKE
HK$2,361,000) which are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and Bz LEMEKIE  BEER 2
repayable on demand. BRAREREE -
None of the financial assets included in the above balances R 2023} 2022F3 331 HEF A Lt 4
was either past due or impaired as at 31 March 2023 and HRACEHEERMBBTERE stA
2022. The financial assets included in the above balances A R & B & B BT BN R KR K
related to deposits and other receivables for which there was iR KR BRI R & R D EWGIES
no recent history of default and past due amounts. Their B - Al Th &&= E5 AEER
recoverability was assessed with reference to the credit status JRE Al K 20234 K 20224 3 B 31
of the debtors, and the expected credit loss as at 31 March HNESEEBEREEBERAE /-

2023 and 2022 was considered by management to be minimal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2023 & Z 2023303 1HIEFE

18. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 18. ESE(TIEREMER
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the NRFERR BEZENRERENERZR
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as BEHHCIRBOTMNT ¢
follows:

2023 2022
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
Within 1 month —f@B A 3,097 7,169
1to 3 months —Z=={@R 1,431 2,452
Over 3 months =@A L 671 781
5,199 10,402
The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are BoENTEBERENEEANTER —#%
normally settled on terms of 60 to 120 days. BRE0BEZE 120 HR&S -
The Group’s trade and bills payables include amounts NEBEFENRBLENZEESELUT
denominated in the following foreign currencies: SN EHEC FIE ¢
2023 2022
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
United States dollar (“US$”) &7t ("%£7T ) 31 726
Euro (“EUR”) Bt (" BT 4) 3,838 8,054
3,869 8,780
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RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

19. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 19 HittfE(TsIBE R EETE R
2023 2022
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TAET TAET
Other payables and accruals E & I8 & FERTE A (a) 10,806 16,805
Contract liabilities &#& (& (b) 13,214 21,303
24,020 38,108

Notes: FEEE -

(a) Included in the Group’s other payables and accruals was an (a) M2023F3A3 HENEEEEKE
amount due to a member of the Emperor Group of NTFRIE#9 2,625,000 7T (2022 4F ¢
approximately HK$2,625,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 8,071,000 7T ) st AR B EMFEN K
HK$8,071,000), which is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and BERETER - 25 EREER . 2
repayable on demand. Except for the above, other payables BRBRERER - BREAES > Hid
are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of one ENFIERES  FHHRA—MEA -
month.

(b) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) BREECHBESHIIMT

31 March 31 March 1 April
2023 2022 2021
2023 &£ 2022 F 20214

3A31H 3A31H 4RA1H

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FExT FExT TH&xT

Consideration received from customers in advance

TAWEFRE

Sale of goods $HEE @ 12,816 20,443 22,901

Sale of gift vouchers 12444 & 398 860 1,225

Total contract liabilities &% & (E4#2%8 13,214 21,303 24,126
Contract liabilities include consideration received in advance EANEEEFERIRNERWENAE
of the delivery of goods and for the sale of gift vouchers. The KEEER S - 172023 202243 A 31
decrease in contract liabilities as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 HENEERDHEERNERMEE
was mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances EREWEF EHBIURATE

received from customers in relation to the sales of goods at
the end of the year.
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RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE
20. PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the terms of the relevant tenancy agreements, the
Group, as the lessee of certain properties under operating
leases, has the obligations to reinstate its leased properties to
their original state or to a condition as specified in the
respective tenancy agreements at the cost of the Group at the
end/upon the termination of the relevant lease terms.

20. i

REFBEHEEBZGRYT . FREFEAKE
HERTETYRZABARERESES
RmRKILER BERBEHERYES
ERXETEHEBZEMREZMR > &
P A S EIAE -

Provisions for
reinstatement costs

e M AR

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

At beginning of year &4 10,838 9,558
Additional provisions ZEMEE - 1,639
Amounts utilised during the year F AT B 448 (576) (344)
Decrease in estimated provisions {&&t & 4> = (15)
At 31 March A3 83 31H 10,262 10,838
Less: Non-current portion J& : 3E7R B EE5 (6,521) (5,694)
Current portion JiE)E 0 3,741 5,144

The provisions for reinstatement costs were determined based
on certain assumptions and estimates made by the directors of
the Company with reference to past experience and available
information. The assumptions and estimates are reviewed, and
revised where appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

BERABERBDREAATDEZTSEBHE
B R AT HERHMEH 2 A TRE A AEFTM
BT 2SBRIMEFTEIREEY RS
ERRERER (2ER ) -
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RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 21, RIERMIEEE
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as RAEBIBEENFRNEBNT ¢
follows:

Depreciation in

excess of
related
depreciation
allowance
HBiBERTE
BiszineE
HK$’ 000
THET
At 1 April 2021 72021481 H 5,897
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year & R 18 2 0k EIE R IE 10 (586)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 F22022%F 38 31 B X 2022F 45 1 H 5,311
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year & R 18 2 0k B R IE 10 (129)
At 31 March 2023 }2 202343 H 31 H 5,182
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had tax loss arising in Hong MR2023FE3A31H AEEREBEL
Kong of HK$9,678,000 (2022: Nil) that may be carried forward 2 B I8 5 489,678,000 % JT (2022 4F -
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the ) IERAAESLURHEEABBCAA
company in which the loss arose. Deferred tax assets have not Al RRMERBLRF o REBE W ML TIE
been recognised in respect of the tax loss as it has arisen in a BIEERELHEELEE  RERAHELN
subsidiary that it is currently not considered probable that —REERIR R/ ANRABEEEERTOREF Y
taxable profits will be available against which the tax loss can BEABACHIBEBEZWEAR -
be utilised.
22. SHARE CAPITAL 22. g7
Shares B 7

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

Issued and fully paid Shares: B 317 MRS 2 RN ¢

800,000,000 (2022: 800,000,000) ordinary shares 110,337 110,337
800,000,000 ( 2022 4 : 800,000,000 ) B& & 8 K&
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31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

23. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 23. BERREETE
The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option AANTF2018FE1 A8 HIRM—TEER
Scheme”) on 8 January 2018. eEtE (TSR ) -
The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are SRR Bl T HEHBA T
summarised as follows:
(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme (a) BREETEIZED

To enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate REREEERS B XRBES

talented eligible participants to strive for future BAERSEBEDEREEHR

developments and expansion of the Group. RKRBRLIER -
(b) Eligibility (b) &

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include BREGFECEGERSEEEER

any director, including any executive or independent non- SEEAKEARCEMNES (B

executive director, any employee of any member of the ERMITHIBLIERNITESE ) ~ 1A

Group, any trustee of a trust whose beneficiaries or BE - IR AR HREBELREE

objects include any employee or business associate of the EREEXNEBHEANEIENE

Group, any adviser or consultant to the Group, any AIEFEA AEBFTAEMNAF

provider of goods and/or services to the Group, or any A REBEMERE KRS 2 M

other person who the board of directors of the Company ERAARNTDEETZLERNBERR

considers, in its sole discretion, has contributed or may HWASEEBEERI TS EL SR

contribute to the Group. ZAEAEM AL .

(c) Maximum number of shares available for issue (c) AIFEITZBRM LREE

(i) total number of shares available for issue under the (iy 7201841 58H (Bl & #® %
Share Option Scheme as at 8 January 2018 (i.e., the MBI EICAZERES) &
date of passing the resolution for adoption of the 2023 F 6 F29H (BIAFE#HR H
Share Option Scheme) and 29 June 2023 (i.e., the ) R B RER S AT AT
date of this report): 80,000,000 shares A#a8L + 80,000,000 fi% -

(i) percentage of the issued shares of the Company that (i) F2023F6 A 29 HHAARE
it represents as at 29 June 2023: 10%. BITRM BRI - 10% °

(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant under the (d) REBEBREEITERAEKRS

Share Option Scheme ERE TR PR

(i) in aggregate not to exceed 1% of the shares in issue (i) BRIFER=EHIE SAEEMA
in any 12-month period unless approved by the 12{8 B A ANE AR EBBE
shareholders; and BT 1% 5 &

(ii) options granted to substantial shareholders or (i) PMEMI2EAHERREEZR
independent non-executive directors or their RNBUFATEFTAEES
respective associates in any 12-month period BeBMBBARHCERE &@
exceeding 0.1% of the shares in issue and with a BERBITERMNZ01%EEEBB
value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved 55,000,000 JT 78 & M 3 it
by the shareholders. HE o
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31 March 2023 #(Z 202338315 .LFE

23. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

Period within which options may be exercised by the
grantee under the scheme

At any time from the date of grant of the option to such a
date determined by the Board but in any event not
exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

Vesting period for options granted under the scheme

No vesting period unless otherwise determined by the
Board.

(i) Price payable on application or acceptance of
the option: HK$1.00;

(i) The period within which payments or calls must or

may be made: Within 28 days from the date of grant;

and

(iii) Period within which loans for such purposes of the
payments or calls must be repaid: Not applicable.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the board of directors
of the Company and will not be less than the higher of (a)
the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of grant; and (b) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Approximately 4.5 years (expiring on 7 January 2028)

No share option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme since the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme.
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BRIt BIIR T ARATITERS
R4 <z HABR

BERHBRKENDEZSZSRETE
ZBEBAPZAEMRRE  ERERE
AT AR BB 1045

RERRIEETBITA T IR 2 it
2w EA

BRIFBEFESHTEE
HA o

BRI EERE

(i) FARESIEAN B AR PT BT Y
RE 1.0087T

Y ELELEET L
B EE AR 28 A
R

(if)

(i) FEHIBHNRBRNER
EEMR - ANEM -

EETEECELE
TEEDHARDERZSEE  EAR
BERTIEEE ()N RE A B
RRTED 2 BRFTRTHE © K (b)
REERLARABEXAAL
Al &40 2 T B S FTIR Th E ©

BBt BI 28R T EH
HNASE(R2028FE1H7HEM) -

BERETIEERZHE BEBKE
RIS B R -




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2023 & Z2023F 383 1HEFE
24. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, additional
provisions for reinstatement costs in respect of certain
leased properties of the Group amounting to
approximately HK$1,639,000 were recognised and
these amounts were recognised as part of the cost of
related property, plant and equipment of the Group and
reflected as additions to leasehold improvements of the
Group during the prior year.

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$8,106,000
(2022: HK$60,476,000) and HK$8,106,000 (2022:
HK$60,476,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for leased properties.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

24. IFEBRERERMEE

(a) EEFRERSB

(i)

(if)

(b)

BE2022F3A31HIEFE
MASEE THRBAYFEMESY
ZEERAEBEIINBEN
1,639,000 7T BERIEHER
RAEEEBEYE - BENEE
Az —EH2 TRE—FES
JRAEBEB 2HEMELEER
Eo

RER » AEERBRAYECE
B EEEREEENE
BaErIERERES, 106,000
HBIT (20224 : 60,476,000/
5T ) 8,106,000 5T (2022
£ 1 60,476,000 7T ) ©

MEETHEEZRBEZEE

2023

Lease
liabilities

HERE

HK$’ 000
FET

At 1 April 2022 A 2022F 48 1H 76,404
Changes from financing cash flows BER&H 8 &5 (45,890)
New leases & 8,106
Lease modification FHEEz] 25,745
Interest expense F| S5 2,527
At 31 March 2023 72202343 H 31 H 66,892
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RAF5ERaRMIEE
31 March 2023 %2 2023F3831HIEFE

24. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 24. {ZSIR&R=RMT (&)
FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) MERHELEZEBZEE (&)
(continued)
2022
Lease
liabilities
HEaRE
HK$’ 000
TET
At 1 April 2021 }A2021FE4H81H 36,973
Changes from financing cash flows i& R &8 &5 (40,401)
New leases & 60,476
Lease modification & &3 17,821
Interest expense F| S5 1,535
At 31 March 2022 7 202243 A 31H 76,404
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEZHE R
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement HABRSTHEECHECESR
of cash flows is as follows: RZEFZINT -
2023 2022
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET THET
Within operating activities £&LZ25E&) A 4,665 5,909
Within financing activities B & EEIA 45,890 40,401
50,555 46,310
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RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)

In addition to the transactions, arrangements and balances
detailed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with

certain members of the Emperor Group during the year:

Sales of goods FMmIHE

Interest expense on lease liabilities A E & &2 F BFI

Lease payments FE 3R

Reimbursement of administrative expenses 1TE B < &+

Financial advisory fees 81 75EaRIE
Company secretarial fees ATWMEE

Promotion fees {852

25. [ 535
(8) B B ® & H A it o5 it

2R R RAERS  AEER
Py g 2 2 R B B A T8 B
ELE

2023 2022
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
5,073 2,548
144 184
7,308 7,276
2,286 2,063
360 360

278 170

400 -

The underlying related party transactions as set out in notes
(i) and (ii) below mainly constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Notes:

(i)  The sales of goods were on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements.

(ii)  During the year, the Group had certain lease arrangements
ranging from three months to three years with certain
members of the Emperor Group in connection with the
leasing of certain office properties and retail stores. The
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as at 31 March
2023 were HK$2,755,000 (2022: HK$9,717,000) and
HK$2,783,000 (2022: HK$9,948,000), respectively.

(iii) The reimbursement of administrative expenses was
charged with reference to the costs incurred by the
relevant party.

(iv) The financial advisory fees were charged based on terms
as set out in the respective agreement.

The company secretarial fees were charged based on
terms as set out in the respective agreement.

The promotion fees were charged based on terms as set
out in the respective agreement.

SCREE (1) B (1B 51 2 A8 BA A B 75
RPEBBKLHRAE 14AZHR

fiat -

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

e sE & D E N AT IR R
SRR E 2 R T

RAEE  AEERBESTHA
EYERTEEHEETHRES
B EARN AR =Z@AEE=
FoETHEREE 1202343
A31E EAREEREESE
2 Bl £ 2,755,000 3% JT (2022 4F ©
9,717,000 78 ) £ 2,783,000 7T
(20224 : 9,948,0007T ) °

WEZ TR Y2 E 2RI E
EZRAEN -
MBEREDRER WRATEZ G
FOZ IR -

NRWEBDIRES R 5
FRUER »

fRIHE TIRR B 1R B BRI
i
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31 March 2023 8220235 3831HILFE

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) The amount due from the immediate holding company
included in the Company’s current assets is unsecured,

25. R 535 (#8)

(b) HAXATREEE EKEEE
RATZ BRI b BRARK

interest-free and repayable on demand.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

ZREE-

(c) AEEEXTZEEASFH

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

THET THET

Fees 1#8& 1,078 1,028
Short-term employee benefits 2 Hi{E 2127 5,578 5,603
Post-employment benefits BER1E K] 282 170
5,860 5,773

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 6,938 6,801

FFPEEEEASZHMEER

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s EELFEITHRAEMES o HMEFE
emoluments are included in note 8 to the consolidated BEN GRS IS RFMFES -
financial statements.

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 26. ARG

R2023FE3HA31H ' AEBEWLRNEGZE
BRRELBEIRAREENT ¢

At 31 March 2023, contingent liabilities not provided for by the
Group in the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

In connection with bank guarantees given to a landlord in lieu of a rental 2,187 2,187
deposit required under certain tenancy agreements

BREA—REEFRZRITER URBETHEREREZHESRE

In connection with a bank guarantee given to a customer in lieu of a 171 171
surety bond required under a certain project sales agreement
BRR—RZEEFELBITER  UIRBETEEHERZERECBARE

2,358 2,358

Ulferts International Limited BX{LEIfSZERAR]

130 Annual Report 2022/2023 &k




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 27. ZERE Dz &M T A
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FHENeMITAERREHRZREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: ™
Financial assets THMEE

Financial assets
at amortised cost

REHA AT EZEMERE

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TET TAET

Trade receivables & ZEWFIE 3,085 3,525

Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 27,726 24,736
STATEN IS ~ S REMBREIENSRIE E

Cash and cash equivalents I & LIRSS EY) 62,059 76,804

92,870 105,065

Financial liabilities EWMas

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REHEA AT EZEMBRE

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FET FET

Trade and bills payables & 5 fER 5k I8 M B 2% 5,199 10,402

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 8,951 14,630
FEAEMENSRERESERNSREE

Lease liabilities A& & (& 66,892 76,404

81,042 101,436
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31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

28.

29,

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities reasonably
approximated to their fair values.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumption were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade and bills payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities/
repayable on demand of these instruments or the effect of
discounting is not material.

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables had
been calculated and assessed mainly by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities, as appropriate. The changes in fair value as a result
of the Group’s own non-performance risk as at 31 March 2023
and 2022 were assessed to be insignificant.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, trade and bills payables and
financial liabilities included in other payables, accruals and
other financial liabilities, which mainly arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 29. A PEEIE B IR REBUR (#)

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures primarily arise from purchases by the Group’s
operating units and certain monetary liabilities of the Group
denominated in EUR and US$, being currencies other than the
units’ functional currency. For the year ended 31 March 2023,
certain purchases of the Group were denominated in EUR, which
is different from the functional currencies of the respective
operating units. The directors of the Company do not expect any
significant movements in the US$/HK$ exchange rate as the
HK$ is pegged to the US$ within a narrow band.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
EUR exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s loss before tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities).

2023
If HK$ weakens against EUR %% 7T 75 BT §2 (B
If HK$ strengthens against EUR {8 7T 5 BT FHE

2022
If HK$ weakens against EUR & T R BT E
If HK$ strengthens against EUR {8 7T 53 BT FHE
The directors of the Company consider that the Group’s

exposure on foreign currency risk as at 31 March 2023 was not
significant.

4HEE LB

AEEBARSRZGEERR - 2EREE
EREASECEEUEECRERASE
BLE T RETFECETEREE (R
ZEBMINEEEB I EE) - REE
2023 F3ABIHILFE  REHETZ
ETHRBILBOTE  BERAKLEEAN
ZUMBEEEER c KAARERTAHETR
BITEREANSEIMELE RS
JTTEETTHY e/ NEESEBER L
% o

REZERT - AEBRAESEL BT
BT R ARE (HEEEER
SEATEED) 2 BEE -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
EUR exchange in loss
rate before tax

ERCEEE BrFRRIRSIE
L) Emn, Crid)
% HK$’ 000

THET

5 192

(5) (192)

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)

EUR exchange in profit
rate before tax

ERCEEE FRARAIEF]
L) 1, Crid)
% HK$’ 000

THET

5 (4083)

(5) 403

ANDEERA AEEN 202343
31 B2 SN AIRL REA -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 29. A PEEIR B R REUR (#)

134

POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

The Group trades on credit terms primarily with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s general policy that
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances

EERE

AEEELRERTHEEERIFCE=NE
TEEEE - ARBECHRR TEEAR
ETEEEBECRPYABREERER
FFe ltoh > BUREIRERDRFECER

are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure EETEE MASEEH cERERR
to bad debts is not significant. Ko
Maximum exposure and year-end staging B A B fE R FAKFEER

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 March. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 March 2023

TREINIASIHREAEBEFEEK
RNEEEREMAZNERNEERR
(BRIFEFMN RV ERARKES DA E
BEMER RREFBRERCARHER)
RERBERDE - M2ICBAHERMEE
AR (E -

2023F3H31H

12-month
ECLs
+={@H
JEHIEE Lifetime ECLs
58 2HFEEE ER51E
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—FEE B B LA & st
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
Fi#T T T T Tz
Trade receivables* B 5 EWFIE* - - - 3,359 3,359
Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
FEATEMRIE ~ e LEMBWGIEN S/ E
I3
— Normal** —IE& ** 27,726 - - - 27,726
Cash and cash equivalents
RERBREEFED
- Not yet past due — R 62,059 - - = 62,059
89,785 - - 3,359 93,144
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 29. I REIEEIE BERBIR (&)
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EE RS (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BRARfER FRFEEE (18)
As at 31 March 2022 7 202243A31H

12-month
ECLs

+=@EA

THHAEE Lifetime ECLs
58 ZHFRHE ER1E

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—PEE EPEE E=PEE EHksE et

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
Trade receivables* & 5 EWGAIE * - - - 3,805 3,805

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

SEATE IR » ZE REABKEIAR

SREE
- Normal** —1E& ** 24,736 - - - 24,736
Cash and cash equivalents
HWeENRIREEFEY
— Not yet past due — HREHH 76,804 - - - 76,804
101,540 - - 3,805 105,345
*  For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified *  KREEREZEWFIEERGRE
approach for impairment, further detailed information is FiE E—T BN A M IERERNE
disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. 16 55 ©
**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in o ST ATEN IR ~ 2 R H b B WG
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to SREENGFEEETERAHREA
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no RITEE > TAMBEENBERSRE
information indicating that the financial assets had a EBSEDRLREERBERZ LM -

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Liquidity risk mEE £ RS

The Group’s objective is to maintain adequate funds to meet AEEEERFRAECESmEHES
commitments associated with its financial liabilities. Cash flows MaEEREeAE  aREEEERAE
of the Group are closely monitored by senior management on EtcraGlemMERECIINBEREKEE
an on-going basis, considering the maturity of the Group’s (B TEARSRE  BREREEER
financial liabilities and financial assets, and projected cash TEZEAERRSRE -

flows from operations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAF5ERaRMIEE
31 March 2023 %2 2023F3831HIEFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

29. B A PSESIEEIZRBIR (8)

mENEE A ()

FEERBEMRCEREBEENRERN
RTBRARZEIB TR

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

136

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31 March 2023 202353 H31H

On demand
BEX

HK$’ 000
FET

Less than
1 year
PR—E

HK$’ 000
FET

1 to 5 years
—ERF

HK$’ 000
FET

Total
HEEh

HK$’ 000
FET

Trade and bills payables - 5,199 - 5,199
BoENRIERENEE
Financial liabilities included in other 2,625 6,326 - 8,951
payables and accruals
FFAHEMENFIBERESEANSRAE
Lease liabilities fAE& & - 39,047 30,995 70,042
2,625 50,572 30,995 84,192

31 March 2022 202243 A 31 H

On demand

REXR

HK$’ 000
FET

Less than
1 year

PR—EE

HK$’ 000
FEXT

1 to 5 years
—ERF

HK$’ 000
FET

Total
#ast

HK$’ 000
FET

Trade and bills payables - 10,402 - 10,402
B S5 ENRIENEN R
Financial liabilities included in other 8,071 6,559 - 14,630
payables and accruals
STAERMENRELESERNSHERE
Lease liabilities HHE & & - 41,744 36,682 78,426
8,071 58,705 36,682 103,458
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATEERIRMMIEE
31 March 2023 #Z2023F3831HILFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 29. A PEEIEBEREUR (4)

POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$97,000,000, of which
HK$7,455,000 was utilised as at 31 March 2023. As at 31
March 2022, the Group had aggregate banking facilities
amounting to approximately HK$97,000,000, of which
HK$13,941,000 was utilised as at 31 March 2022.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

REEERE ()

202343831 H AEECRITHE
HAZAX 5 97,000,000 5T - E it 2023
F3H31HE & 7,455,000 5 1
2022 3A31H AEEZRITHER
%8 #9 /97,000,000 JT© H 122022
F3H31HEEH 13,941,000 7T

BAERE
AEFEAER T EBRERBERASER
BRNEERFERETNEE  LHF
BREEARLER UXFHEEBENEER
BERREE-

AEBRBELZBR A RIEBBREE S
RS HEEEREEIAFHAE - hi
AR ERLERE  REETEREER
FREBITHRD - NEE2023F K
2022 3ABIHIEFE  AEEHEEE
A B BRI EFIMEIRES) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 30. K B ZBAFEAR ISR
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RREARBBAARALADH B IRNAR 2ER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: s

2023 2022

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS IEREIEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIBARZHE 6,065 6,065

CURRENT ASSETS mgi&E

Due from subsidiaries FEW KB /AT FIE 62,812 50,331
Due from the immediate holding company FEW B #2372 i /A Tl 5k 18 3 3
Prepayments and other receivables 83 518 & E fth fE U 2k 18 151 56
Cash and cash equivalents & KIRESEY) 45,416 60,030
Total current assets EEEEE 108,382 110,420

CURRENT LIABILITIES igh&a&E

Other payables and accruals EfthfERFIE LK ESTE B 606 78
NET CURRENT ASSETS #iB&E&EFE 107,776 110,342
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES & E BB & & 113,841 116,407
Net assets EEFA 113,841 116,407

EQUITY #z

Share capital fZA& 110,337 110,337
Retained profits (note) R %A (st ) 3,504 6,070
Total equity HEZS 4828 113,841 116,407
Wong Chi Fai Chan ChuenYin
=S8 PREE
Director Director
2 2
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2023 &&= 2023F3H31HIHFEE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 30. KB 2B ARIR TR (%)
COMPANY (continued)
Note: MiET -
A summary of the movements in the Company’s retained profits/ AANBRE =T (RTEBE) S
(accumulated losses) is as follows: T

Retained profits/
(accumulated

losses)
REERR
( REtEE)
HK$’ 000
FHET
At 1 April 2021 1220214 4 A 1 H (4,325)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 4 R F| &2 WA 4248 15,435
Final 2021 dividend 2021 ERH#IM & (5,040)
At 31 March 2022 and at 1 April 2022 % 2022 43 B 31 A} 2022 4 B 1 H 6,070
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year & R & 2 HE WS 4258 1,434
Final 2022 dividend 2022 ER 1M & (4,000)
At 31 March 2023 74 2023 4£ 3 A 31 H 3,504
31. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 31. it EiF SRR
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and GAMBHRERDR2023F6 H29HEE
authorised for issue by the Board on 29 June 2023. FaoitENMISREETIE -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFFHRE

The following table summarises the results, assets and liabilities of  TFFREIFIAEBREZE 20194 ~ 20204 ~ 2021
the Group for the years ended 31 March 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 4~ 20224 [ 20234 3H31H It F E =~ #*
and 2023: mEBERAE:

For the year ended 31 March
BE3ANNHLEE

2019 2020 2022 2023

—E—hE —F-%F =% —g-—f ===

—_=—= —_—_—— —_—=——

HK$’ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET TET

Results &

Revenue Y A 242,959 218,853 234,504 225,457 216,148

Profit/(loss) before tax BFiEI A (B8 ) (4,621) (13,851) 19,652 5,818 (21,298)
Income tax credit/(expense) 643 2,223 (2,826) (1,676) 281

Frigsie,(Fx)

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent (3,978) (11,628) 16,826 4,142 (21,017)

BAREA ABESR,(BE)

As at 31 March
m3B31H

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

“F-AF -“B-FF "B-—% -“F--F -"F-=

HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET FET

Assets and liabilities EE R &&

Total assets A& ZFE 174,535 199,483 214,260 250,486 196,296
Total liabilities 2 & (& (62,865)  (100,677) (98,628) (135,752)  (106,579)
Net assets & & /F{H 111,670 98,806 115,632 114,734 89,717
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 111,670 98,806 115,632 114,734 89,717
BATHEB ARGRELD

In the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group had applied HKFRS 220203831 HIEFE AEBECERE

16. Accordingly, certain comparative information for the years B E®REEBE165E . FAiL B E20194F

ended 31 March 2019 may not be comparable to the years ended 3H31HITEEZETHRERN R HEE

31 March 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 as such comparative 20204 20214 ~2022F K 20233 H31H

information was prepared under HKAS 17. HEFELRR FRAZZLRERDNIRESHS
SEPEAIE 17 RRR -
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